#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Hirotomo Nakahara

Date

Ancient Lamprey VLR Antibodies as Tumor Diagnostic and Tumor Targeting Reagents

By

Hirotomo Nakahara Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> Max D. Cooper, M.D. Advisor

Arash Grakoui, Ph.D. Committee Member

Samuel H. Speck, Ph.D. Committee Member

Lily Yang, M.D., Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Ancient Lamprey VLR Antibodies as Tumor Diagnostic and Tumor Targeting Reagents

By

Hirotomo Nakahara B.S., Georgia Institute of Technology, 2004

Advisor: Max D. Cooper, M.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> > 2017

### ABSTRACT

#### Ancient Lamprey VLR Antibodies as Tumor Diagnostic and Tumor Targeting Reagents

By

#### Hirotomo Nakahara

Jawless vertebrates (lamprey and hagfish) possess an unusual adaptive immune system that lacks conventional Ig/TCR genes used by all other vertebrate species for antigen recognition. Instead, jawless vertebrates use leucine-rich repeats (LRR) to generate three types of variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR): VLRA and VLRB found on T-like cells, and VLRB found on B-like cells. In response to immunization, VLRB cells proliferate and differentiate into VLRB antibody-secreting plasmacytes. The potential VLRB antibody repertoire is estimated to be greater than 1014 unique VLR clones, which are generated through a gene conversion-like process that replaces the noncoding segments within the incomplete germline VLR gene with randomly selected sequence diverse LRR subunits. Given the 500 million years of evolution separating jawless vertebrates from all other vertebrates, VLR should be able to access novel epitopes that are forbidden to conventional Ig due to self-tolerance.

In search of novel tumor-specific epitopes, we immunized lampreys with B cell leukemia clones from patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) or mouse BCL1 leukemia to generate recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibody libraries, which were then screened for tumor-specificity. From the CLL-immunized library, we identified an antibody, VLR39, which was specific for the donor CLL cells and recognized the heavy chain variable region (VH) complementarity determining region 3 (CDR3) of the B-cell receptor (BCR). Using this antibody to monitor the CLL donor after chemoimmunotherapy-induced remission, we detected the recurrence of the leukemic clone before significant increase in lymphocyte count or CD5+ B cells. From the BCL1-immunized library, we identified an antibody, VLR-C8, which was specific for the BCL1 clones and also found to recognize the VH/VL CDR3 of the BCR.

Lamprey antibodies exhibit exquisite specificity for a protein epitopes, which in this case was the signature VH/VL CDR3 sequence of B cell leukemia clones, and offer a rapid strategy for generating anti-idiotype antibodies for early detection of leukemia recurrence and may potentially be used as a tumor targeting reagent.

Ancient Lamprey VLR Antibodies as Tumor Diagnostic and Tumor Targeting Reagents

By

Hirotomo Nakahara B.S., Georgia Institute of Technology, 2004

Advisor: Max D. Cooper, M.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2017

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This has been a longer ride than expected, taking me from Emory to UAB and back again. First and foremost, I express my deepest gratitude to a great scientist, mentor, and the reason I went to UAB in the first place, Max. If it weren't for your patience, trust, and encouragement, I would not have been able to get through one of the toughest times I've ever had to face in my life. It has truly been an honor and privilege to grow as a person and as a scientist under your guidance. To my fellow Cooper lab members and alumni, being able to share in the joys and disappointments of our latest experimental results made the lab such a fun place to be, day or night; particularly the nights with the after-hours shenanigans. I'm so happy I had the chance to work with you all.

A special thanks to my dear committee members, past and present: Drs. Arash Grakoui, Aron Lukacher, Chuck Parkos, Sam Speck, and Lily Yang. Even under some unorthodox circumstances and challenges, everyone was so incredibly kind and generous in sharing their time, expertise, and lab resources to ensure my research could proceed as smoothly as possible. Arash gets a special mention for having known me the longest and starting me on the pursuit of my PhD. Thank you for believing in me, holding me to a higher standard, and fearlessly saying what needs to be said. I can't ask for any more than that from my workplace dad and a great friend.

Speaking of workplace parents, I am fortunate to have had my workplace moms, Mary Horton and Jane Lawson, keeping an eye out for me so I wouldn't get into too much trouble. You two are what make the EVC, IMP, and the MD/PhD program such a special place. My time in graduate school would have been made even more difficult if it weren't for my friends and classmates to share the experience with. Devon, Harry, Brian, Luke and Ruth, thanks for being with me through the good, the bad, and best of all, the fun and crazy times.

Much love to my family, for supporting me financially, emotionally, and always being there for me. Mom, I know you worried about how long all this was taking but thank you for not getting on my case about it... too much. Naomi, you are the best sister ever for talking Mom down from getting too worried about her wayward son. Being able to go home to Alpharetta to see you two was enormously comforting.

To my best friend and soon-to-be wife, Jenn, I love you. Words fail to explain how much you mean to me. Thank you for sticking by my side and taking such good care of me throughout this process. You are a far better partner than I deserve.

Lastly, I dedicate this work to my late father. You bestowed on me a name meaning "expansive knowledge", which seems particularly fitting given my scholarly career aspirations. I'll be doing my best to live up to it and make you proud. Miss you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM	<b>PAGE</b>
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
Part I: Finding Inspiration in the Immune System	
Vaccination	1
Serum Therapy	2 3
Monoclonal Antibodies	3
Part II: Improving on Nature	
Limitations of the IgG Format	5
Engineered Ig Domains	6
Non-Ig Protein Scaffolds	8
Part III: The Agnathan Adaptive Immune System	
Non-Ig Adaptive Immune System	9
Variable Lymphocyte Receptors	10
VLRB protein and structure	11
Antigen-specificity of VLRB antibodies	12
The biotechnology niche occupied by VLRB	15
References	18
Chapter 2: Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Monitoring with	
a Lamprey Idiotope-Specific Antibody	31
Abstract	32
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	35
Results and Discussion	39
Figures and Legends	43
Supplementary Materials and Methods	49
Supplementary Figures and Legends	53
References	63

Chapter 3: Recognition of a mouse BCL1 leukemia BCR	
idiotope by a lamprey antibody	67
Abstract	68
Introduction	69
Materials and Methods	72
Results and Discussion	77
Figures and Legends	82
Supplementary Materials and Methods	89
References	93
Chapter 4: Discussion and Future Directions	97
Tumor antigen discovery via VLRB antibodies	97
Clinical applications of anti-Id VLRB antibodies	100
Tumor-targeting VLRB antibodies	103
Figures and Legends	106
References	109

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

## **CHAPTER/FIGURE**

### PAGE

## CHAPTER 2

<b>Figure 1:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity.	43
Figure 2: ELISA and flow cytometric analysis of VLR39 binding to donor CLL Igs.	44
Figure 3: Monitoring for CLL recurrence.	46
<b>Figure 4:</b> B cell and absolute lymphocyte count of patient after treatment.	48
<b>Figure S1:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity with different cell types and cell lines.	53
<b>Table S1:</b> CLL VH gene families and HCDR3 sequences	55
<b>Figure S2:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity with CLL cells with different <i>VH</i> gene sets.	57
Figure S3: CLL VH gene sequence analysis.	58
<b>Figure S4:</b> IGHV-D-J sequence alignment of VLR39 sorted cells.	60
<b>Table S2:</b> Detection of CLL recurrence by quantitative real-time PCR	62
CHAPTER 3	
<b>Figure 1:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR-C8 reactivity.	82
<b>Figure 2:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of VLR-C8 binding to BCL1-3B3 cells after surface Ig modulation.	84

<b>Figure 3:</b> Amino acid sequence alignment of Ig heavy and light chains comprising the hybrid scFv mutants.	85	
Figure 4: VLR-C8 binding to BCL1, CLL, and hybrid scFv.		
<b>Figure 5:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of VLR-C8 expressed as a monomer and Fc-fusion protein.	87	
CHAPTER 4		
Figure 1: Flow cytometric analysis of plasma from CLL immunized lamprey.	106	
<b>Table 1:</b> Screening results of monoclonal VLRB antibodies        from CLL immunized lampreys.	107	
<b>Figure 2:</b> Flow cytometric analysis of anti-Id VLRB antibodies in monomeric form.	108	

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

7-AAD:	7-aminoactinomycin D
ACK:	ammonium chloride/potassium
ADA:	anti-drug antibodies
ADCC:	antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AID:	activation-induced cytidine deaminase
APC:	allophycocyanin
APOBEC:	apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like
BclA:	Bacillus collagen-like protein of anthracis
BCR:	B cell receptor
BG-H:	blood group H disaccharide
BG-H3:	blood group H type 3 trisaccharide
BiTe:	Bispecific T cell Engager
CD:	cluster of differentiation
CDA:	cytidine deaminase
CDC:	complement-dependent cytotoxicity
cDNA:	complementary DNA
CDR:	complementarity determining region
CFAR:	cyclophosphamide, fludarabine, alemtuzumab, and rituximab
CH:	heavy chain constant domain
CLL:	B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CTD:	C-terminal domain
DARPin:	designed ankyrin repeat proteins
DMEM:	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMSO:	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA:	deoxyribonucleic acid
EBV:	Epstein-Barr virus
EIA:	enzyme immunoassay
ELISA:	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EpCAM:	epithelial cell adhesion molecule
Fab:	fragment antigen-binding
FBS:	fetal bovine serum
Fc:	fragment crystallizable
FDA:	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FITC:	fluorescein isothiocyanate
FR:	framework region
GalNAc:	N-acetylgalactosamine
GAPDH:	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GlcNAc:	N-acetylglucosamine
GPI:	glycosyl-phosphatidyl inositol
HCabs:	heavy-chain antibodies
HCDR:	Ig heavy chain CDR
HEK:	human embryonic kidney
HEL:	hen egg lysozyme
HEPES:	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid

Id:	idiotype
Ig:	immunoglobulin
IRES:	internal ribosome entry site
LACI:	lipoprotein-associated coagulation inhibitor
LacNAc:	N-acetyllactosamine
LCDR:	Ig light chain CDR
LDL:	low-density lipoprotein
LRR:	leucine-rich repeat
LRRNT:	N-terminal LRR
LRRCT:	C-terminal LRR
mAb:	monoclonal antibody
MEM:	minimum essential medium
MFI:	mean fluorescence intensity
MHC:	major histocompatibility complex
MNCs:	mononuclear blood cells
Neu5Ac:	N-acetylneuraminic acid
Ni-NTA:	nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid
NK:	natural killer
PBMC:	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBS:	phosphate-buffered saline
PCR:	polymerase chain reaction
PE:	phycoerythrin
PECy7:	phycoerythrin-cyanine7 dye
PEI:	polyethylenimine
Poly(I:C):	polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
qPCR:	quantitative real-time PCR
RAG:	recombination-activating gene
RIA:	radio immunoassay
RNA:	ribonucleic acid
RPMI:	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
RT-PCR:	reverse transcription PCR
scFv:	single-chain variable fragment
TBS:	Tris buffered saline and 0.05% Tween-20
TCR:	T cell receptor
ΤFα:	Thomson-Friedenreich antigen
TFPI:	tissue factor pathway inhibitor
Tn:	Thomsen-nouvelle antigen
TNF:	tumor necrosis factor
V(D)J:	variable, diversity, and joining
VH:	heavy chain variable domain
VHH:	variable domain of heavy-chain antibodies
VL:	light chain variable domain
VLR:	variable lymphocyte receptor
V-NAR:	variable domain of new antigen receptor
vWF:	von Willebrand factor
WT:	wild type

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **Part I: Finding Inspiration in the Immune System**

#### Vaccination

The understanding of the immune system and the ability to manipulate it have proven invaluable in humanity's fight against disease and illness. Even as far back as 11<sup>th</sup> century China, it was recognized that survivors of smallpox infection became resistant to re-infection. Thus, it became common practice to intentionally inoculate individuals with material from active smallpox lesions in a process known as variolation, which resulted in a milder smallpox infection that conferred protection against naturally acquired smallpox infection. However, the presence of the smallpox virus in the inoculum itself carried the risk of causing severe and lethal infection in a minority of variolated individuals (1). Seven centuries later on the other side of the world, Edward Jenner observed that individuals with a past history of cowpox infection resisted the effects of variolation or natural smallpox infection. This led Jenner to experimentally inject children with cowpox pustules, which conferred protection from smallpox challenge (2). Not only did Jenner invent a safer immunization technique by using non-lethal cowpox, but his work directly led to the wide acceptance of vaccination as a method to prevent infectious disease (3). In a testament to the effectiveness of vaccination, the World Health Organization announced the eradication of smallpox in 1980 after a successful global vaccination effort (4).

#### **Serum Thereapy**

Continual tinkering with the immune system would yield another important fruit at the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, when Emil von Behring and Shibasaburo Kitasato demonstrated that the immune system could be used not only to prevent, but to treat disease by transfer of passive immunity. In their 1890 paper, "On the realization of immunity in diphtheria and tetanus in animals" originally published in German (5–7), they observed that animals immunized with tetanus and diphtheria carried toxinneutralizing properties in the cell-free fraction of the blood (serum), and that the immune serum could be preemptively transferred into un-immunized animals to protect against infection, as well as to treat infected animals. Von Behring adapted and perfected the technique for human use, and was awarded the first ever Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1901 "for his work on serum therapy, especially its application against diphtheria, by which he has opened a new road in the domain of medical science and thereby placed in the hands of the physician a victorious weapon against illness and deaths" (8).

Working with von Behring on the standardized production of anti-diphtheria serum, Paul Ehrlich developed effective immunization protocols in cattle to achieve high antibody titers (9,10). Shortly thereafter in 1897, Ehrlich proposed a remarkably prescient theory to explain the mechanism for anti-toxin production. In his side-chain/receptor theory, cells expressed a set of receptors with different structures and binding capabilities, which can interact with toxins in a precise and specific manner similar to the lock and key model of enzyme/substrate interaction. In response to binding the toxin, the cell increases the production of that specific receptor and sheds the excess into the blood stream as anti-toxin (10–13). Though experimental proof would not come for another half century, Ehrlich essentially predicted the existence of B cells expressing surface immunoglobulin receptors that could differentiate into antibody secreting plasma cells in response to antigen stimulation. For this incredible feat of prognostication, Ehrlich deservedly shared the 1908 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine with Élie Metchnikoff for laying the theoretical foundation of immunology (14). The specificity of the antigenantibody interaction inspired Ehrlich to coin the term "magic bullet" to describe an optimal therapeutic agent that could target pathogens and tumors while leaving the host cells unharmed (12,13).

#### **Monoclonal Antibodies**

Serum therapy came close, but was not precise enough to be a true magic bullet. Patients could develop serum sickness several days after injection due to the non-human origin of the anti-diphtheria serum (6). Switching to human serum donors mitigated this problem somewhat, but a heterologous mixture of antibodies that may target autoantigens or circulating microbial antigens could still cause adverse effects (15). The observation that myeloma cells produce homologous, monoclonal antibodies with restricted specificity offered promise, but it was impractical to experimentally induce myelomas and screen them hoping to find the desired specificity by chance (16). Finally in 1975, Kohler and Milstein published a method for generating monoclonal antibodies with specificities directed against the target immunogen of choice (17). By fusing splenic cells from an immunized mouse to a myeloma cell line, they could preferentially immortalize the antigen-specific B cells that responded to the immunogen, which could then be screened for the desired specificity and recovered. Kohler and Milstein were jointly recognized with the 1984 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for "...the discovery of the principle for production of monoclonal antibodies" (18).

It only took 11 years from the publication of the hybridoma method before the U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved the first monoclonal antibody for clinical use. This mouse anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody, muromonab, was approved for use as an immunosuppressive agent to prevent transplant rejection (19,20). Again, as seen before in serum therapy, muromonab and other monoclonals being investigated for clinical use at the time had side effects associated with immunogenicity owing to their non-human origin. In addition, the Fc portion of the mouse antibody did not interact efficiently with the human Fc receptor, limiting its effector functions and shortening its serum half-life (21). The first attempt at circumventing these issues was to construct chimeric antibodies that joined the antigen-binding mouse Ig variable region with the human Ig constant region containing the Fc region, which would allow interaction with the human Fc receptor (22). Immunogenicity was further reduced with humanized antibodies that replaced the antigen-binding CDR loops in a human antibody with the antigen-binding CDR loops from a mouse antibody (23,24). Eventually, deriving fully human antibodies from transgenic mice containing the human heavy and light chain genes (25,26) and *in vitro* screening of human antibody display libraries (27,28) became a possibility. By 2012, the total U.S. sales of monoclonal antibody drugs recorded a staggering 24.6 billion dollars (29). As of this writing in 2015, there are 46 different monoclonals in regulatory review or approved for sales in the US or EU, many of them full-length human IgG antibodies (30).

Von Behring and Kitasato had ended their 1890 paper with a quote from Goethe: 'Blut ist ein ganz besonderer Saft' translated from the original German as "blood is a quite peculiar juice" (7). Less than a century after the discovery of serum therapy, the efforts of immunologists to unlock the exact nature of this 'peculiar juice' had brought about a game changing technology to produce magic bullets, in principle, at will.

#### **Part II: Improving on Nature**

#### Limitations of the IgG Format

The qualities that make a full-length human IgG antibody a great magic bullet is its antigen-specificity, bivalent structure which provides high avidity binding, reduced immunogenicity due to its human origin, and Fc receptor interactions which confers immune effector functions and increased serum half-life (31,32). However, the physiochemical properties inherent to the IgG antibody can be a disadvantage for certain applications. In the case of cancer therapy, the 150 kDa IgG antibody is too large for efficient tissue penetration, limiting its effectiveness at targeting solid tumors (33). Fc receptor-bearing cells may be non-specifically activated by the Fc region of the antibody, which can potentially trigger a cytokine storm and other undesirable effects (32). For applications where the antibody is conjugated to imaging/therapeutic agents, the Fcmediated effector functions are unnecessary and become a hindrance; the increased serum half-life of the antibody through neonatal Fc receptor recycling and non-specific uptake by Fc receptor-bearing cells reduces target specificity and delays bloodstream clearance, which in turn leads to poor imaging contrast and exposure of healthy tissue to the toxic drug/radionuclide (33). From a manufacturing standpoint, the complexity of the IgG molecule with its four polypeptides (two pairs of heavy and light chain), the disulfide bonds crucial for stability, and glycosylation necessary for Fc function are all factors that require an eukaryotic expression system, which is costly and inefficient compared to a prokaryotic expression system (31,34).

#### **Engineered Ig Domains**

These limitations have been addressed to a certain extent by the manipulation and engineering of the Ig domain. Antibody fragments can be generated by proteolysis of full-length antibodies, or cloning and expression of shortened Ig genes that encode a single polypeptide as Fab, scFv, and even isolated single Ig domains (32,34). The smallest of this category are the single Ig domains that are 1/10<sup>th</sup> the size of full-length antibodies, making them attractive for use in imaging and tumor targeting applications. The shortened, single-chain structure of antibody fragments make them more amenable to library display than the heterodimeric Ig chains, and allows improved expression efficiency in bacteria, albeit in the oxidative environment of the periplasm due to the importance of the disulfide bond for protein stability (32,35,36). Two scFv with different specificities can be linked together to produce bispecific molecules (32) which have had promising clinical results. The FDA recently approved blinatumomab (MT103), a Bispecific T cell Engager (BiTe) antibody with specificity to both CD3/CD19, for the treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-negative relapsed or refractory B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (37). Blinatumomab can use the scFv-CD3 arm to engage cytotoxic T cells regardless of TCR specificity, and direct them towards killing malignant B cells bound by the scFv-CD19 arm (37,38). Another BiTe antibody with EpCAM/CD3-specificity (MT110) (39) and a bispecific tandem diabody (TandAb) with CD30/CD16A-specificity (AFM13) (40) have completed Phase I clinical trials.

The discovery of animals with natural single domain antibodies offers an intriguing possibility of generating smaller antibodies that have undergone "quality control" through millions of years of natural evolution. The Camelidae (camels, llamas, and alpacas) (41) and cartilaginous fish (nurse sharks, wobbegong, and ratfish) (42–44) all possess a subset of antibodies consisting of a pair of single heavy chains missing the CH1 domain and lacking the light chain, known as heavy-chain antibodies (HCAbs) (45). The antigen-binding domain of both the camelid and shark HCAbs, known as the VHH and V-NAR respectively, demonstrate superior solubility, stability and lack of selfaggregation compared to human single domain antibodies (32). A unique feature of these single domain antibodies are the long CDR loops that allow access to cleft epitopes (46), such as the catalytic site of enzymes and ligand-binding site of receptors (45). In contrast, the CDR loops of conventional VH/VL mouse antibodies are generally unable to bind to concave epitopes (47). Several nanobodies based on the *Camelidae* VHH domain are currently undergoing Phase I/II clinical trials with excellent safety and immunogenicity records thus far (48). A divalent nanobody comprised of two anti-von Willebrand factor (vWF) VHH joined by a 3-alanine linker, caplacizumab (ALX-0081), is being evaluated for treatment of acquired thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (49). Ozoralizumab (ATN-103) for rheumatoid arthritis is a trivalent nanobody consisting of

two anti-TNF- $\alpha$  VHH and one anti-albumin VHH, which can utilize the targeting properties of albumin for improve pharmacokinetics (50).

Even with these stepwise innovations, antibodies and their derivatives are inherently reliant on their disulfide bridges for structural stability and much optimization remains for efficient prokaryotic expression (51–53). In addition, the complex slew of patents governing the generation, screening, and production of antibodies and their derivatives make them very expensive for both patients and manufacturers (54–57).

#### **Non-Ig Protein Scaffolds**

Instead of iterating on the Ig domain, great effort has been made to use alternative protein scaffolds as a starting point for developing antigen-specific, high affinity-binding molecules. Focusing on *in vivo* applications, ideal features include: small size to enhance tissue penetration, thermochemical stability, lack of disulfide bonds for cost-effective production by prokaryotic expression or chemical synthesis; versatility that allows pharmacokinetic alteration (short half-life for imaging versus increased half-life for therapy), payload conjugation, multi-specificity and fusion constructs (36,58). Most importantly, protein scaffolds need to feature a binding surface amenable to the introduction of random sequence diversity to generate a library, which can then be screened for binding to the target of interest (36,38).

In 2009, Ecallantide (Kalbitor/ DX88), a potent and specific kallikrein inhibitor used for the treatment of hereditary angioedema, became the first engineered non-Ig protein scaffold to meet FDA approval for therapy (20,38,59). The lead compound, DX88, was discovered by phage display of the 7 kDA Kunitz domain from the human lipoprotein-associated coagulation inhibitor (LACI), also known as tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI), and screening for kallikrein binding and inhibitor activity (60,61). Many more non-Ig protein scaffolds are under investigation and development (31,34,36,48,57,58): Adnectins derived from a 94 amino acid type III fibronectin domain, Avimers from a 35 amino acid repeating motif of the LDL receptor Domain A, Affibodies from the 58 amino acid synthetic Z domain of *Staphylococcus aureus* Protein A, DARPins from ankyrin repeat proteins comprised of 67 amino acids plus a 33 amino acid repeating motif, and Anticalins from the 160–180 amino acid lipocalins (20,38,48).

The relative advantages offered by non-Ig protein scaffolds is offset by the risk for immunogenicity due to their synthetic origins (62–64), though none have been reported to cause severe adverse reactions or anti-drug antibody in Phase I clinical trials to date (20,65–69). The non-Ig protein scaffolds are even smaller than the 15 kDa antibody fragments, which may explain their lack of immunogenicity due to rapid clearance. Nevertheless, even with comparative advantage in some applications over traditional antibodies, each protein scaffold will have their own limitations dictated by the demands of the anticipated downstream application.

#### Part III: The Agnathan Adaptive Immune System

#### Non-Ig Adaptive Immune System

The discovery and characterization of the non-Ig antibodies used by jawless vertebrates (agnathans) offers fresh inspiration for producing novel antigen-specific binding molecules. Lamprey and hagfish represent the only extant lineage of agnathans, which split off from the jawed vertebrates (gnathostomes) nearly 500 million years ago in the Cambrian period (70–75). Historically, there was strong suggestive evidence for the existence of an adaptive immune system in the lamprey: the production of specific agglutinins and lymphoid proliferation in response to immunization, accelerated rejection of secondary allografts, and delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions (76–81). Similar, though limited evidence were also observed in hagfish (82–87). However, the agglutinins of lamprey and hagfish did not resemble any known gnathostome Ig by biochemical analysis (78,85,88), and transcriptome analysis of lamprey and hagfish leukocytes failed to identify key elements of adaptive immunity found in all gnathostomes (Ig, TCR, RAG1/2, and MHC class I/II) (89–91).

#### Variable Lymphocyte Receptors

The mystery was finally resolved in 2004 with the discovery of a diverse set of leucine-rich repeat (LRR) transcripts expressed in the activated lymphocyte population, which were dubbed variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR) (92). The VLR transcripts were exclusively expressed in the lymphocyte population, and comprised of an invariant signal peptide, followed by an N-terminal LRR (LRRNT), a variable number of sequence diverse LRR modules, a connecting peptide, C-terminal LRR (LRRCT), and an invariant threonine/proline-rich stalk containing a glycosyl-phosphatidyl-inositol (GPI)-anchor site and hydrophobic tail. The germline VLR gene is incomplete; it contains two non-coding intervening sequences sandwiched between three partial segments of the 5' LRRNT, 5' LRRCT, and 3' LRRCT. To assemble a mature VLR gene, numerous LRR cassettes both upstream and downstream of the incomplete germline VLR gene serve as template

donors; they can be randomly and sequentially copied in-frame to replace the non-coding intervening sequences in a gene conversion-like process thought to be mediated by two lamprey orthologues of the AID-APOBEC family DNA cytosine-deaminase, CDA1 and CDA2 (93). VLR gene assembly occurs in monoallelic fashion, generating a clonally diverse population of lymphocytes that each express a single, unique VLR gene (92,94,95). Based on computational analysis of individual LRR modules found within mature VLR gene sequences, the potential VLR repertoire is calculated to be greater than 10<sup>14</sup> unique clones, which is comparable to the estimated size of the mammalian antibody repertoire (94).

Three different VLR types have been identified in the lamprey (96–98) and hagfish (99). Each individual lymphocyte only expresses one of the three VLR types. The first VLR discovered was the VLRB, which is expressed as a cell surface receptor on Blike cells generated in the hematopoietic organs (typholosole and kidneys), allowing them to respond to antigen stimulation by proliferating and differentiating into plasma cells that secrete multimeric VLRB antibodies (100,101). On the other hand, VLRA and VLRC are solely expressed as cell surface receptors on T-like cells generated in thymuslike structures in the gills designated as the thymoid (98,102). VLRA cells and VLRC cells exhibit a dichotomous gene expression pattern that is remarkably similar to that of  $\alpha/\beta$  and  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells, both of which respond to stimulation by phytohemagglutinin or poly(I:C) stimulation, respectively (98,103–106).

#### VLRB protein and structure

Before the enormous potential of the VLRB antibody repertoire could be utilized for the generation of reagents with novel binding specificities, the first technical issue that needed to be overcome was in how to produce monoclonal VLRB antibodies. The lack of a cell culture system nor a method for immortalizing lamprey lymphocytes meant that the classic immunological methods for isolating and generating a monoclonal antibody producing clone would not be feasible. Fortunately, advances in recombinant DNA technology since the days of Kohler and Milstein, and the single polypeptide nature of the VLRB gene meant that it was possible to directly clone the somatically rearranged VLRB cDNA from individual lymphocytes and express them in HEK-293T cells (101) or yeast surface display libraries (107). This allowed for VLRB clones to be screened for the desired binding-specificity. Using both immunized and non-immunized lamprey lymphocytes as the cDNA source, monoclonal VLRB antibodies to numerous types of protein and carbohydrate antigens have been identified. These include the BclA protein of *Bacillus anthracis* exposporium (101,108), the H-trisaccharide of human blood group O erythrocytes (109), hen egg lysozyme (110), human CD5 (111), the BCR idiotope of human B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells (112), the Thomsen-Friedenreich ( $TF\alpha$ ) pancarcinoma carbohydrate antigen (113) and others (107,114).

Structural data on the VLRB protein have been obtained by X-ray crystallography analysis of monoclonal VLRB antibodies in complex with their cognate antigens: anti-H-trisaccharide (RBC36) (109), anti-HEL (VLRB.2D) (110), anti-BclA (VLR4) (108), and anti-TF $\alpha$  disaccharide (aGPA.23) (113). The VLRB protein shares the characteristic crescent-shaped, solenoidal form with other LRR family proteins (109,110,113,115). The "LxxLxLx" motifs in the variable LRR subunits form parallel B-strands on the concave

surface, where antigen contact occurs. There is an extended loop from the C-terminal LRR that extends back towards the concave surface and provides another crucial point of antigen contact (108–110,113). The VLR is stabilized by a hydrophobic core comprised of conserved leucines and phenylalanines, capped off by the LRRNT and LRRCT regions at both ends. Additional stability comes from two disulfide bridges formed by four conserved cysteines each at the LRRNT and LRRCT (109,110,113,115). The result is a remarkably stable protein that can withstand harsh pH and temperature extremes, requiring incubation at 70°C for 1 h before antigen binding activity is lost (101).

The VLRB antibodies are secreted as multimers composed of identical subunits organized as four to five sets of dimmers that are connected by disulfide-linkage at the ends of their stalk region (100,101). Individual VLRB monomers often possess relatively low affinity, in the micromolar range, but the full size VLRB multimers display high avidity binding due to their multivalency (101,110). As an example, the anti-BclA VLRB mAb (VLR4) can agglutinate *B. anthracis* spores at a 1000-fold higher dilution than can a high-affinity anti-BclA mouse IgG2b mAb (EA2-1) (101,116). It is possible to generate high affinity VLRB clones in the nanomolar range by using error-prone PCR to introduce mutations in the VLRB diversity region (107,110).

#### Antigen-specificity of VLRB antibodies

VLRB antibodies exhibit exquisite specificity in that they are capable of discriminating between very similar epitopes. Such is the case with anti-BclA VLR4, which distinguishes between the very similar BclA sequences of *Bacillus anthracis*, *Bacillus cereus* T, and *Bacillus thuringiensis* (subsp. Kurstaki) (101,108). By

comparison, Ig-based monoclonal antibodies generated against the BclA of *Bacillus anthracis* are typically cross-reactive with related *Bacillus* strains (117,118). In this case, the VLR4 antibody recognizes a *Bacillus anthracis*-specific glycosylation pattern on the BclA protein (108).

Conventional antibodies (119) and most lectins (120) directed against the TF $\alpha$  disaccharide were of inferior affinity and specificity in comparison to the anti-TF $\alpha$  VLRB antibody, aGPA.23 (114). Much like aGPA.23, the most promising anti-TF $\alpha$  mouse antibody, JAA-F11, can distinguish TF $\alpha$  [Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ ] from TF $\beta$  [Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\beta$ ] (121). However, JAA-F11, reacts with a wider spectrum of glycan structures, such as the core 2 trisaccharide [Gal $\beta$ 1-3(GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-6)GalNAc $\alpha$ ], 6-Sialyl TF $\alpha$  [Gal $\beta$ 1-3(Neu5Ac $\beta$ 2-6)GalNAc $\alpha$ ], and 6-LacNAc-Tn [Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-6GalNAc $\alpha$ ] whereas aGPA.23 is more precise in that it mainly recognizes fucosylated TF $\alpha$  (BG-H3 [Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ ] and BG-H [Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Gal $\beta$ ]) and serine-linked TF $\alpha$  (114,122).

The exquisite specificities of VLRB antibodies may reflect the structural rigidity of the LRR  $\beta$ -strands comprising the concave antigen-binding surface, in contrast to the induced-fit conformational changes that allow the CDR loops of conventional antibodies to bind multiple antigens (75). However, this VLRB rigidity is tempered by the flexible, highly variable LRRCT loop which make important antigen contacts (108–110,113). Notably, the LRRCT loop of the anti-HEL VLRB.2D is inserted into the catalytic cleft of HEL (110) much like the extended CDR loops of the single chain camelid VHH (46) and shark IgNAR (123) anti-HEL antibodies. Structural studies of mouse anti-HEL antibodies in complex with HEL show that they typically recognize planar epitopes away from the catalytic cleft (47). The exquisite specificities of VLRB antibodies may reflect the structural rigidity of the LRR  $\beta$ -strands comprising the concave antigen-binding surface, in contrast to the induced-fit conformational changes that allow the CDR loops of conventional antibodies to bind multiple antigens (75). However, this VLRB rigidity is tempered by the flexible, highly variable LRRCT loop which make important antigen contacts (108–110,113). Notably, the LRRCT loop of the anti-HEL VLRB.2D is inserted into the catalytic cleft of HEL (110) much like the extended CDR loops of the single chain camelid VHH (46) and shark IgNAR (123) anti-HEL antibodies. Structural studies of mouse anti-HEL antibodies in complex with HEL show that they typically recognize planar epitopes away from the catalytic cleft (47).

Another factor that may contribute to the unusual specificity of VLRB is the evolutionary distance between agnathans and gnathostomes. This predicts that VLRB antibodies should be inducible that can recognize mammalian antigens forbidden to conventional Ig-based antibodies by immune tolerance. During B cell development in mammals, self tolerance mechanisms eliminate or inactivate self-reactive B cell clones to forestall development of autoimmunity (3). The flipside of this safety measure is the exclusion of some V(D)J gene permutations from the antibody repertoire, and the consequent inability to use those antibodies to recognize epitopes that mimic host antigens. The VLRB antibodies should thus be able to access antigenic blindspots in the Ig antibody repertoire.

#### The biotechnology niche occupied by VLRB

VLRB antibodies are uniquely positioned between engineered Ig domains and non-Ig protein scaffolds as a technology for producing specific-binding molecules. Compared to engineered Ig domains, the VLRB antibodies can potentially recognize novel antigens due to lack of tolerance constraints for mammalian antigens, and the unique structural basis for their antigen-binding via their rigid, but variable LRR  $\beta$ -strand surface, and the flexible, hypervariable LRRCT loop (108–110,113). The specificity of VLRB antibodies for glycan determinants (108,109,113) make them an attractive option for generating new glycan-binding reagents, especially in light of the estimated 7000 glycan determinants in the human glycome and the current paucity of glycan-specific reagents to study them (124).

While non-Ig protein scaffolds and VLRB antibodies share the potential for recognizing novel epitopes due to their structural difference from conventional antibodies, non-Ig protein scaffolds by definition are derived from artificial, non-immune libraries, whereas VLRB antibody libraries can be sourced from an immunized animal. A non-immune library benefits from a lack of bias in their binder repertoire and allow the discovery of novel binding-specificities, but their sheer size can pose a probabilistic challenge in isolating the desired binder (27,125). In comparison, the VLRB-containing plasma from an immunized animal can be assayed (100,126) to check for binding-specificity before screening, which greatly improves the odds of finding the VLRB clone of desired specificity and affinity.

A concern shared by both non-Ig protein scaffolds and VLRB antibodies is their immunogenicity. Despite their safety record thus far (20,65–69), it is difficult to see a path for humanizing the non-Ig protein scaffolds of synthetic origin. Fortunately, the

human Slit protein has good sequence homology with VLRB (109). This opens up the possibility of grafting the antigen-binding variable LRR residues and the highly variable LRRCT insert from the VLRB onto a Slit protein backbone to create humanized VLRB proteins.

The structural features of the antigen-binding site, evolutionary origin, and physical properties of monoclonal VLRB antibodies, all suggest that monoclonal VLRB antibodies and their engineered derivatives will prove to be useful biomedical reagents. The work in this dissertation addresses the feasibility of producing VLRB-based tumor targeting reagents, and their potential application for tumor antigen discovery, cancer diagnostics, *in vivo* imaging, and anti-tumor therapy.

#### References

- Brunham RC, Coombs KM. In celebration of the 200th anniversary of Edward Jenner's Inquiry into the causes and effects of the variolae vaccinae. Can J Infect Dis [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2015 Jan 5];9:310–3. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3250919&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Jenner E. Jenner, Edward. 1749–1823. The Three Original Publications On Vaccination Against Smallpox. Vol. 38, Part 4. The Harvard Classics [Internet]. 1798 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.bartleby.com/38/4/
- 3. Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, editors. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, Fifth Edition, Updated Edition. Fifth Edit. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2005.
- 4. Fenner F, Henderson DA, Arita I, Jezek Z, Ladnyi ID, World Health Organization. Smallpox and its eradication / F. Fenner ... [et al.] [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland: Geneva : World Health Organization; 1988 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://apps.who.int//iris/handle/10665/39485
- 5. Von Behring E, Kitasato S. [The mechanism of diphtheria immunity and tetanus immunity in animals. 1890]. Mol Immunol [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2015 Jan 7];28:1317, 1319–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1749380
- Gronski P, Seiler FR, Schwick HG. Discovery of antitoxins and development of antibody preparations for clinical uses from 1890 to 1990. Mol Immunol [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2014 Mar 17];28:1321–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1749381
- Winau F, Winau R. Emil von Behring and serum therapy. Microbes Infect [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2014 Mar 17];4:185–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11880051
- Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1901 [Internet]. 1901 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1901/
- 9. Bosch F, Rosich L. The contributions of Paul Ehrlich to pharmacology: a tribute on the occasion of the centenary of his Nobel Prize. Pharmacology [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2014 Mar 14];82:171–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2790789&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract

- Kaufmann SHE. Immunology's foundation: the 100-year anniversary of the Nobel Prize to Paul Ehrlich and Elie Metchnikoff. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2015 Jan 7];9:705–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18563076
- Nobel Foundation. Paul Ehrlich Nobel Lecture: Partial Cell Functions [Internet]. 1908 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1908/ehrlichlecture.html
- Strebhardt K, Ullrich A. Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress. Nat Rev Cancer [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2014 Feb 12];8:473–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18469827
- Schwartz RS. Paul Ehrlich's magic bullets. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2015 Jan 7];350:1079–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15014180
- Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1908 [Internet].
  1908 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1908/
- Stiehm ER. Adverse effects of human immunoglobulin therapy. Transfus Med Rev [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2013;27:171–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2013.05.004
- 16. Margulies DH. Monoclonal antibodies: producing magic bullets by somatic cell hybridization. J Immunol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2015 Jan 2];174:2451–2. Available from: http://www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2451
- Köhler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature [Internet]. 1975 [cited 2014 Dec 10];256:495–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1172191
- Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1984 [Internet].
  1984 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1984/
- Leavy O. Therapeutic antibodies: past, present and future. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;10:297. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2763
- 20. Beck A, Wurch T, Bailly C, Corvaia N. Strategies and challenges for the next generation of therapeutic antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;10:345–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2747

- Chan AC, Carter PJ. Therapeutic antibodies for autoimmunity and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2010 [cited 2011 Jul 16];10:301–16. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20414204
- 22. Morrison SL, Johnson MJ, Herzenberg LA, Oi VT. Chimeric human antibody molecules: mouse antigen-binding domains with human constant region domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1984;81:6851–5.
- 23. Jones PT, Dear PH, Foote J, Neuberger MS, Winter G. Replacing the complementarity-determining regions in a human antibody with those from a mouse. Nature. 1986;321:522–5.
- Hwang WYK, Foote J. Immunogenicity of engineered antibodies [Internet]. Methods. 2005 [cited 2011 Aug 22]. page 3–10. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15848070
- 25. Green LL, Hardy MC, Maynard-Currie CE, Tsuda H, Louie DM, Mendez MJ, et al. Antigen-specific human monoclonal antibodies from mice engineered with human Ig heavy and light chain YACs. Nat Genet. 1994;7:13–21.
- 26. Lonberg N, Taylor LD, Harding FA, Trounstine M, Higgins KM, Schramm SR, et al. Antigen-specific human antibodies from mice comprising four distinct genetic modifications. Nature. 1994;368:856–9.
- 27. Winter G, Milstein C. Man-made antibodies. Nature. 1991;349:293–9.
- Mccafferty J, Schofield D. Identification of optimal protein binders through the use of large genetically encoded display libraries. Curr Opin Chem Biol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;26:16–24. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.01.003
- 29. Aggarwal S. What's fueling the biotech engine—2012 to 2013. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32:32–9.
- Reichert JM. Antibodies to watch in 2015. MAbs [Internet]. 2015;7:1–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list\_uids=25484055
- Binz HK, Amstutz P, Plückthun A. Engineering novel binding proteins from nonimmunoglobulin domains. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2011 Jul 24];23:1257–68. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16211069
- 32. Holliger P, Hudson PJ. Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2014 Mar 14];23:1126–36. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16151406

- Wu AM, Senter PD. Arming antibodies: prospects and challenges for immunoconjugates. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2012 Mar 6];23:1137– 46. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16151407
- 34. Gebauer M, Skerra A. Engineered protein scaffolds as next-generation antibody therapeutics. Curr Opin Chem Biol [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2011 Jul 24];13:245–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19501012
- 35. Glockshuber R, Schmidt T, Plückthun A. The disulfide bonds in antibody variable domains: effects on stability, folding in vitro, and functional expression in Escherichia coli. Biochemistry. 1992;31:1270–9.
- 36. Banta S, Dooley K, Shur O. Replacing antibodies: engineering new binding proteins. Annu Rev Biomed Eng [Internet]. 2013;15:93–113. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23642248
- 37. Sanford M. Blinatumomab: First Global Approval. Drugs [Internet]. 2015;321–7. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s40265-015-0356-3
- Carter PJ. Introduction to current and future protein therapeutics: a protein engineering perspective. Exp Cell Res [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2011 [cited 2011 Jul 27];317:1261–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21371474
- 39. Amgen Research (Munich) GmbH. Phase I Study of MT110 in Lung Cancer (Adenocarcinoma and Small Cell), Gastric Cancer or Adenocarcinoma of the Gastro-Esophageal Junction, Colorectal Cancer, Breast Cancer, Hormone-Refractory Prostate Cancer, and Ovarian Cancer (MT110-101) [Internet]. ClinicalTrials.gov. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US).); [cited 2015 Jun 25]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00635596
- Rothe A, Sasse S, Topp MS, Eichenauer DA, Hummel H, Reiners KS, et al. A phase I study of the bispecific anti-CD30/CD16A antibody construct AFM13 in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood [Internet]. 2015;1– 29. Available from: http://www.bloodjournal.org/cgi/doi/10.1182/blood-2014-12-614636
- 41. Hamers-Casterman C, Atarhouch T, Muyldermans S, Robinson G, Hamers C, Songa EB, et al. Naturally occurring antibodies devoid of light chains. Nature. 1993;363:446–8.
- 42. Greenberg AS, Avila D, Hughes M, Hughes A, McKinney EC, Flajnik MF. A new antigen receptor gene family that undergoes rearrangement and extensive somatic diversification in sharks. Nature. 1995;374:168–73.

- 43. Nuttall SD, Krishnan U V., Hattarki M, De Gori R, Irving RA, Hudson PJ. Isolation of the new antigen receptor from wobbegong sharks, and use as a scaffold for the display of protein loop libraries. Mol Immunol. 2001;38:313–26.
- 44. Rast JP, Amemiya CT, Litman RT, Strong SJ, Litman GW. Distinct patterns of IgH structure and organization in a divergent lineage of chrondrichthyan fishes. Immunogenetics. 1998;47:234–45.
- 45. Muyldermans S. Nanobodies: Natural Single-Domain Antibodies. Annu Rev Biochem [Internet]. 2013;82:775–97. Available from: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-biochem-063011-092449
- 46. De Genst E, Silence K, Decanniere K, Conrath K, Loris R, Kinne J, et al. Molecular basis for the preferential cleft recognition by dromedary heavy-chain antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2006;103:4586–91. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1450215&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- 47. Sundberg EJ, Mariuzza R a. Molecular recognition in antibody-antigen complexes. Adv. Protein Chem. 2002. page 119–60.
- 48. Wurch T, Pierré A, Depil S. Novel protein scaffolds as emerging therapeutic proteins: From discovery to clinical proof-of-concept. Trends Biotechnol. 2012. page 558–65.
- 49. Bartunek J, Barbato E, Heyndrickx G, Vanderheyden M, Wijns W, Holz JB. Novel antiplatelet agents: ALX-0081, a nanobody directed towards von Willebrand factor. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2013;6:355–63.
- Kratz F, Elsadek B. Clinical impact of serum proteins on drug delivery [Internet]. J. Control. Release. Elsevier B.V.; 2012. page 429–45. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.11.028
- 51. Djender S, Schneider A, Beugnet A, Crepin R, Desrumeaux KE, Romani C, et al. Bacterial cytoplasm as an effective cell compartment for producing functional VHH-based affinity reagents and Camelidae IgG-like recombinant antibodies. Microb Cell Fact [Internet]. 2014;13:1–10. Available from: http://www.microbialcellfactories.com/content/13/1/140
- 52. De Marco A. Co-expression and Co-purification of Antigen–Antibody Complexes in Bacterial Cytoplasm and Periplasm. 2014. page 125–35. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-62703-977-2

- 53. Desmyter A, Spinelli S, Roussel A, Cambillau C. Camelid nanobodies: killing two birds with one stone. Curr Opin Struct Biol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2015;32C:1–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2015.01.001
- 54. Binz HK, Plückthun A. Engineered proteins as specific binding reagents. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2005. page 459–69.
- Carter PJ. Potent antibody therapeutics by design. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet].
  2006 [cited 2011 Jul 22];6:343–57. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16622479
- 56. Skerra A. Alternative non-antibody scaffolds for molecular recognition. Curr Opin Biotechnol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];18:295–304. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17643280
- Hey T, Fiedler E, Rudolph R, Fiedler M. Artificial, non-antibody binding proteins for pharmaceutical and industrial applications. Trends Biotechnol. 2005;23:514– 22.
- 58. Löfblom J, Frejd FY, Ståhl S. Non-immunoglobulin based protein scaffolds. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2011;22:843–8.
- 59. Zuraw B, Yasothan U, Kirkpatrick P. Ecallantide. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2010. page 189–90.
- 60. Lehmann A. Ecallantide (DX-88), a plasma kallikrein inhibitor for the treatment of hereditary angioedema and the prevention of blood loss in on-pump cardiothoracic surgery. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8:1187–99.
- 61. Williams A, Baird LG. DX-88 and HAE: A developmental perspective. Transfus Apher Sci. 2003;29:255–8.
- 62. Shankar G, Pendley C, Stein KE. A risk-based bioanalytical strategy for the assessment of antibody immune responses against biological drugs. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25:555–61.
- 63. Schneider CK, Papaluca M, Kurki P. A European perspective on immunogenicity evaluation. Nat. Biotechnol. 2009. page 507–8.
- 64. Jahn EM, Schneider CK. How to systematically evaluate immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins regulatory considerations. N. Biotechnol. 2009. page 280–6.
- 65. Tolcher AW, Sweeney CJ, Papadopoulos K, Patnaik A, Chiorean EG, Mita AC, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of CT-322 (BMS-844203), a targeted adnectin inhibitor of VEGFR-2 based on a domain of human fibronectin. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:363–71.
- 66. Mross K, Richly H, Fischer R, Scharr D, Büchert M, Stern A, et al. First-in-human phase I study of PRS-050 (Angiocal), an anticalin targeting and antagonizing VEGF-A, in patients with advanced solid tumors. PLoS One. 2013;8:1–11.
- 67. Campochiaro PA, Channa R, Berger BB, Heier JS, Brown DM, Fiedler U, et al. Treatment of diabetic macular edema with a designed ankyrin repeat protein that binds vascular endothelial growth factor: A phase I/II study. Am J Ophthalmol [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2013;155:697–704.e2. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2012.09.032
- 68. Souied EH, Devin F, Mauget-Faÿsse M, Kolář P, Wolf-Schnurrbusch U, Framme C, et al. Treatment of Exudative Age-Related Macular Degeneration with a Designed Ankyrin Repeat Protein that Binds Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor: a Phase I/II Study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2014;
- Sörensen J, Sandberg D, Sandström M, Wennborg A, Feldwisch J, Tolmachev V, et al. First-in-human molecular imaging of HER2 expression in breast cancer metastases using the 111In-ABY-025 affibody molecule. J Nucl Med [Internet]. 2014;55:730–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24665085
- 70. Carroll RL. Vertebrate Paleontology and Evolution. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company; 1988.
- 71. Kumar S, Hedges SB. A molecular timescale for vertebrate evolution. Nature. 1998;392:917–20.
- 72. Janvier P. Facts and fancies about early fossil chordates and vertebrates. Nature [Internet]. 2015;520:483–9. Available from: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature14437
- Pancer Z, Cooper MD. The evolution of adaptive immunity. Annu Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2011 Jul 22];24:497–518. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16551257
- 74. Cooper MD, Alder MN. The evolution of adaptive immune systems. Cell [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2011 Jul 26];124:815–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16497590
- 75. Herrin BR, Cooper MD. Alternative adaptive immunity in jawless vertebrates. J Immunol [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2012 Jul 12];185:1367–74. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20660361
- Finstad J, Good RA. The evolution of the immune response. III. Immunologic responses in the lamprey. J Exp Med [Internet]. 1964 [cited 2013 Dec 3];120:1151–68. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2137787&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract

- 77. Pollara B, Litman GW, Finstad J, Howell J, Good RA. The evolution of the immune response. VII. Antibody to human "O" cells and properties of the immunoglobulin in lamprey. J Immunol [Internet]. 1970 [cited 2013 Dec 3];105:738–45. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4195499
- 78. Marchalonis JJ, Edelman GM. Phylogenetic origins of antibody structure. 3. Antibodies in the primary immune response of the sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. J Exp Med. 1968;127:891–914.
- 79. Good RA, Finstad J. Phylogenetic development of transplantation immunity. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1964;120:15–20.
- 80. Good RA, Finstad J, Litman GW. Immunology. In: Hardisty MW, Potter IC, editors. Biol Lampreys, vol 2. London: Academic Press; 1972. page 405–32.
- 81. Fujii T, Nakagawa H, Murakawa S. Immunity in lamprey. I. Production of haemolytic and haemagglutinating antibody to sheep red blood cells in Japanese lampreys. Dev Comp Immunol [Internet]. 1979 [cited 2013 Dec 12];3:441–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/510657
- 82. Hildemann WH, Thoenes GH. Immunological responses of Pacific hagfish. I. Skin transplantation immunity. Transplantation. 1969;7:506–21.
- Linthicum DS, Hildemann WH. Immunologic responses of Pacific hagfish. 3. Serum antibodies to cellular antigens. J Immunol [Internet]. 1970 [cited 2013 Dec 3];105:912–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5470527
- Raison RL, Hull CJ, Hildemann WH. Production and specificity of antibodies to streptococci in the Pacific hagfish, Eptatretus stoutii. Dev Comp Immunol. 1978;2:253–61.
- 85. Raison RL, Hull CJ, Hildemann WH. Characterization of immunoglobulin from the Pacific hagfish, a primitive vertebrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75:5679–82.
- Raison RL, Hildemann WH. Immunoglobulin-bearing blood leucocytes in the Pacific hagfish. Dev Comp Immunol [Internet]. 1984 [cited 2012 Feb 17];8:99– 108. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6539259
- Raison RL, Gilbertson P, Wotherspoon J. Cellular requirements for mixed leucocyte reactivity in the cyclostome, Eptatretus stoutii. Immunol Cell Biol [Internet]. 1987;65 (Pt 2):183–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2956184

- Litman GW, Finstad FJ, Howell J, Pollara BW, Good RA. The evolution of the immune response. VIII. Structural studies of the lamprey immuoglobulin. J Immunol [Internet]. 1970 [cited 2013 Dec 3];105:1278–85. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4099053
- 89. Uinuk-Ool T, Mayer WE, Sato A, Dongak R, Cooper MD, Klein J. Lamprey lymphocyte-like cells express homologs of genes involved in immunologically relevant activities of mammalian lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:14356–61.
- 90. Pancer Z, Mayer WE, Klein J, Cooper MD. Prototypic T cell receptor and CD4like coreceptor are expressed by lymphocytes in the agnathan sea lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:13273–8.
- 91. Suzuki T, Shin-I T, Kohara Y, Kasahara M. Transcriptome analysis of hagfish leukocytes: A framework for understanding the immune system of jawless fishes. Dev Comp Immunol. 2004;28:993–1003.
- 92. Pancer Z, Amemiya CT, Ehrhardt GRA, Ceitlin J, Gartland GL, Cooper MD. Somatic diversification of variable lymphocyte receptors in the agnathan sea lamprey. Nature [Internet]. 2004;430:174–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15241406
- 93. Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Liang L, Glazko G V, Liston VG, Pavlov YI, et al. Evolution and diversification of lamprey antigen receptors: evidence for involvement of an AID-APOBEC family cytosine deaminase. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:647–56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17468760
- 94. Alder MN, Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Glazko G V, Cooper MD, Pancer Z. Diversity and function of adaptive immune receptors in a jawless vertebrate. Science [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2013 Mar 7];310:1970–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16373579
- 95. Nagawa F, Kishishita N, Shimizu K, Hirose S, Miyoshi M, Nezu J, et al. Antigenreceptor genes of the agnathan lamprey are assembled by a process involving copy choice. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:206–13. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17187071
- 96. Kasamatsu J, Sutoh Y, Fugo K, Otsuka N, Iwabuchi K, Kasahara M. Identification of a third variable lymphocyte receptor in the lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2011 Dec 3];107:14304–8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2922563&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract

- 97. Das S, Hirano M, Aghaallaei N, Bajoghli B, Boehm T, Cooper MD. Organization of lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor C locus and repertoire development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 May 6];110:6043–8. Available from: http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1302500110
- 98. Hirano M, Guo P, McCurley N, Schorpp M, Das S, Boehm T, et al. Evolutionary implications of a third lymphocyte lineage in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2013 [cited 2013 Nov 12];501:435–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23934109
- 99. Li J, Das S, Herrin BR, Hirano M, Cooper MD. Definition of a third VLR gene in hagfish. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Dec 3];110:15013–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23980174
- 100. Alder MN, Herrin BR, Sadlonova A, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Gartland LA, et al. Antibody responses of variable lymphocyte receptors in the lamprey. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2011 Jul 27];9:319–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18246071
- Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2040–5.
- 102. Bajoghli B, Guo P, Aghaallaei N, Hirano M, Strohmeier C, McCurley N, et al. A thymus candidate in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2011 [cited 2013 Mar 17];470:90–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21293377
- 103. Guo P, Hirano M, Herrin BR, Li J, Yu C, Sadlonova A, et al. Dual nature of the adaptive immune system in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2011 Jun 23];459:796–801. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2714547&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Ho S, Campana D. Phenotypic changes and proliferative activity of human gamma delta T cell receptor-bearing cells upon activation. Clin Exp Immunol [Internet]. 1991;84:376–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list\_uids=1828395\nhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC15 35420/pdf/clinexpimmunol00063-0006.pdf
- 105. Kunzmann V, Kretzschmar E, Herrmann T, Wilhelm M. Polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid-mediated stimulation of human ???? T cells via CD11c+ dendritic cell-derived type I interferons. Immunology. 2004;112:369–77.

- 106. Wesch D, Beetz S, Oberg H-H, Marget M, Krengel K, Kabelitz D. Direct costimulatory effect of TLR3 ligand poly(I:C) on human gamma delta T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2006;176:1348–54.
- 107. Tasumi S, Velikovsky CA, Xu G, Gai SA, Wittrup KD, Flajnik MF, et al. Highaffinity lamprey VLRA and VLRB monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2012 Feb 2];106:12891–6. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722331&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- 108. Kirchdoerfer RN, Herrin BR, Han BW, Turnbough CL, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Variable lymphocyte receptor recognition of the immunodominant glycoprotein of Bacillus anthracis spores. Structure [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 12];20:479–86. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22405006
- 109. Han BW, Herrin BR, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Antigen recognition by variable lymphocyte receptors. Science [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Apr 12];321:1834–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2581502&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- 110. Velikovsky CA, Deng L, Tasumi S, Iyer LM, Kerzic MC, Aravind L, et al. Structure of a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor in complex with a protein antigen. Nat Struct Mol Biol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2013 Dec 3];16:725–30. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722044&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Yu C, Ali S, St-Germain J, Liu Y, Yu X, Jaye DL, et al. Purification and identification of cell surface antigens using lamprey monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2012 [cited 2013 Mar 29];386:43–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22964555
- 112. Nakahara H, Herrin BR, Alder MN, Catera R, Yan X-J, Chiorazzi N, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia monitoring with a lamprey idiotope-specific antibody. Cancer Immunol Res [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2014 Feb 18];1:223–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24432304
- 113. Luo M, Velikovsky CA, Yang X, Siddiqui MA, Hong X, Barchi JJ, et al. Recognition of the Thomsen-Friedenreich pancarcinoma carbohydrate antigen by a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Dec 3];288:23597–606. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23782692
- 114. Hong X, Ma MZ, Gildersleeve JC, Chowdhury S, Barchi JJ, Mariuzza R a, et al. Sugar-binding proteins from fish: selection of high affinity "lambodies" that

recognize biomedically relevant glycans. ACS Chem Biol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 May 20];8:152–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23030719

- 115. Kim HM, Oh SC, Lim KJ, Kasamatsu J, Heo JY, Park BS, et al. Structural diversity of the hagfish variable lymphocyte receptors. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2013 Mar 6];282:6726–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17192264
- 116. Swiecki MK, Lisanby MW, Shu F, Turnbough CL, Kearney JF. Monoclonal antibodies for Bacillus anthracis spore detection and functional analyses of spore germination and outgrowth. J Immunol. 2006;176:6076–84.
- 117. Liu CQ, Nuttall SD, Tran H, Wilkins M, Streltsov VA, Alderton MR. Construction, crystal structure and application of a recombinant protein that lacks the collagen-like region of BclA from Bacillus anthracis spores. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2008;99:774–82.
- 118. Nuttall SD, Wilkins ML, Streltsov VA, Pontes-Braz L, Dolezal O, Tran H, et al. Isolation, kinetic analysis, and structural characterization of an antibody targeting the Bacillus anthracis major spore surface protein BclA. Proteins Struct Funct Bioinforma. 2011;79:1306–17.
- 119. Manimala JC, Manimala JC, Roach TA, Roach TA, Li Z, Li Z, et al. Highthroughput carbohydrate microarray profiling of 27 antibodies demonstrates widespread specificity problems. Glycobiology. 2007;17:17C – 23C.
- 120. Manimala JC, Roach TA, Li Z, Gildersleeve JC. High-throughput carbohydrate microarray analysis of 24 lectins. Angew Chemie Int Ed. 2006;45:3607–10.
- 121. Ferguson K, Yadav A, Morey S, Abdullah J, Hrysenko G, Eng JY, et al. Preclinical studies with JAA-F11 anti-Thomsen-Friedenreich monoclonal antibody for human breast cancer. Future Oncol [Internet]. 2014;10:385–99. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24559446
- 122. Chaturvedi R, Heimburg J, Yan J, Koury S, Sajjad M, Abdel-Nabi HH, et al. Tumor immunolocalization using 124I-iodine-labeled JAA-F11 antibody to Thomsen-Friedenreich alpha-linked antigen. Appl Radiat Isot. 2008;66:278–87.
- Stanfield RL, Dooley H, Flajnik MF, Wilson I a. Crystal structure of a shark single-domain antibody V region in complex with lysozyme. Science [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2011 Aug 22];305:1770–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15319492
- 124. Cummings RD. The repertoire of glycan determinants in the human glycome. Mol Biosyst. 2009;5:1087–104.

- 125. Hoogenboom HR. Selecting and screening recombinant antibody libraries. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2011 Jul 18];23:1105–16. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16151404
- 126. Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Jul 12];105:2040–5. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2542867&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract

## Chapter 2

# Chronic lymphocytic leukemia monitoring with a lamprey idiotope-specific antibody

The data presented in this chapter was published in *Cancer Immunology Research* as: Nakahara, H., Herrin, B.R., Alder, M.N., Catera, R., Yan, X-J, Chiorazzi, N., Cooper M.D. (2013) "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia monitoring with a lamprey idiotopespecific antibody." Cancer Immunol Res 1(4):223-8. The content is reproduced here in whole with permission from the publisher. Data not generated by the PhD candidate is indicated in the figure legends.

## Abstract

For antigen recognition, lampreys use leucine-rich repeats (LRR) instead of immunoglobulin V-(D)-J domains to generate variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR) of three types, VLRA, VLRB, and VLRC. VLRB-bearing lymphocytes respond to immunization with proliferation and differentiation into plasmacytes that secrete multivalent VLRB antibodies. Here we immunized lampreys with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells to generate recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibodies, one of which, VLR39, was specific for the donor CLL cells. The target epitope of VLR39 was shown to be the complementarity determining region 3 (CDR3) of the heavy chain variable region (VH) of the B cell receptor. Using this antibody to monitor the CLL donor after chemoimmunotherapy-induced remission, we detected VLR39<sup>+</sup> B cells in the patient 51 months later, before significant increase in lymphocyte count or CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells. This indication of reemergence of the leukemic clone was verified by VH sequencing. Lamprey antibodies can exhibit exquisite specificity for a protein epitope, a CLL signature VH CDR3 sequence in this case, and offer a rapid strategy for generating anti-idiotype antibodies for early detection of leukemia recurrence.

## Introduction

The adaptive immune system of the extant jawless vertebrates, lamprey and hagfish, offers an alternative to monoclonal antibody technology as a method to produce specific binding molecules. Instead of immunoglobulin (Ig)-based antigen receptors, lampreys and hagfish use variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR) comprised of leucine-rich repeat (LRR) modules for antigen binding (1,2). Like the toll-like receptors and many other LRR proteins, the VLR proteins form a curved solenoid structure (3). Antigen binding occurs on the concave surface formed by the parallel  $\beta$ -strands of the "LxxLxLx" motifs in the variable LRR subunits; an important additional contact is contributed by an extended loop of highly variable sequence in the C-terminal LRR (4–8).

Lampreys have three lymphocyte lineages, each of which expresses a different VLR type. The VLRA<sup>+</sup> and VLRC<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes are T-like cells that exclusively express their VLRs as cell surface molecules (9,10), whereas VLRB<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes resemble mammalian B cells in that they express their antigen receptors on the cell surface, respond to immunization with proliferation, and differentiate into plasma cells that secrete disulfide-linked multimeric VLRB antibodies (4,11). The *VLRB* genes are somatically assembled in lamprey B-like cells by a gene conversion-like process in which sequences from flanking LRR gene cassettes are randomly and sequentially incorporated in a piece-wise fashion into an incomplete germline *VLRB* gene to generate a potential repertoire of  $>10^{15}$  unique *VLRB* genes (1,2,12,13). Allelic exclusion ensures that each individual lymphocyte assembles and expresses a unique *VLRB* gene (1,13,14). Recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibodies can be produced by making a *VLRB* cDNA library from immunized lampreys, expressing the derivative *VLRB* clones in a secretory

cell line, and selecting VLRB antibodies based on antigen-specificity and affinity (4,7,15,16). The single chain polypeptide nature of the VLR protein should make them more amenable for molecular engineering compared to Ig-based antibodies, which require the assembly of complementary heavy and light chains (4,17).

To determine the feasibility of producing lamprey VLRB antibodies with tumor cell specificity, lampreys were immunized with cells from a B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patient and derivative VLRB clones were screened for CLL-specificity. Among the lamprey VLRB antibodies produced against human mononuclear blood cells (MNCs), we identified a monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR39, that preferentially recognized the donor CLL clone. Here we describe the B cell receptor (BCR) idiotopespecificity of VLR39 and the use of this anti-idiotype antibody as a monitoring reagent for early detection of CLL recurrence.

#### **Material and Methods**

## Cells and Cell Lines

Blood samples were obtained with informed consent from CLL patients and healthy adults in studies approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Emory University (Atlanta, GA), the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) (Birmingham, AL), and the North Shore–LIJ Health System (Manhasset, NY), in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. MNCs isolated from whole blood by density gradient centrifugation using Lymphocyte Separation Media (Mediatech) were examined immediately or cryopreserved at -150°C in FBS supplemented with 10% DMSO. HEK-293T cells (generously provided by Dr. Tim Townes, UAB) were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. B cell lines were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% FBS at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The EBV transformed B cells were kind gifts from Dr. Lou Justement (UAB). The B cell phenotypes of the 697, Daudi, Ramos, and SU-DHL-6 cells were verified by flow cytometry.

## Antibodies and flow cytometry

The 4C4 mouse IgG2b/ $\kappa$  monoclonal antibody (mAb) against the invariant VLRB stalk region was described previously (11). R-phycoerythrin (RPE)-conjugated goat antimouse IgG polyclonal antibodies (Southern Biotech) were used for detection of 4C4. The 8A5 VLRB-specific mouse IgG1/ $\kappa$  mAb was generated by immunization with full-length VLRB protein, labeled with Alexa Fluor 488 Protein Labeling Kit (Invitrogen), and recognizes 80% of VLRB clones. Mouse anti-human antibodies CD5-FITC, CD5-APC,

and CD19-PE, propidium iodide and 7-AAD were from BD Biosciences, and CD19-PECy7 was from Southern Biotech.

## Animal maintenance and immunization

Two lamprey larvae, maintained as described (2), received intracoelomic injections of  $1 \times 10^7$  blood MNCs from a newly diagnosed CLL patient on days 0, 14 and 28, before sacrifice on day 42 for collection of buffy coat and plasma (2). All experiments were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at UAB.

# VLRB cDNA library construction, recombinant VLRB expression, and screening for CLL reactivity

Buffy coat leukocytes from an immunized lamprey with the highest titer of donor CLL-reactive VLRB antibodies were used to construct a *VLRB* cDNA library; individual clones were transfected into HEK-293T cells to obtain recombinant VLRB antibodies (4). To assess the antigen-specificity of the monoclonal VLRB antibodies, MNCs from CLL patients and healthy adults were sequentially incubated with VLRB transfectant supernatants, followed by 4C4 anti-VLRB mAb, and then RPE-conjugated goat antimouse IgG polyclonal antibodies, before blocking with 5% mouse serum and staining for CD5 and CD19. Cells were washed in PBS between incubation steps and propidium iodide added before flow cytometric analysis of the cells.

#### Purification of monoclonal VLR39 antibody

Purified VLRB proteins were obtained by PCR cloning the VLR39 into a pIRESpuro-2 vector (Clontech) modified to introduce a hexahistidine-tag between the lamprey VLRB signal peptide and LRRNT before transfection into HEK-293T cell lines. Stable transfectants were selected with 2  $\mu$ g/ml puromycin (Sigma), and recombinant VLRB protein was purified from supernatant via the hexahistidine tag using Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen). Briefly, 1/10 volume of a 10× binding buffer (500 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8.0, 1.5M NaCl, 100 mM imidazole) was added to the transfectant supernatant before passage over the Ni-NTA agarose column, which was washed with 5 column volumes of wash buffer (50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, 0.05% Tween-20) before elution with 50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 250 mM imidazole, 0.05% Tween-20. The eluate was concentrated by centrifugation using an Amicon Ultra-15 30K Centrifugal Filter Device (Millipore).

#### Cloning, expression and sequence analysis of CLL donor BCR

RNA from the CLL donor MNCs was converted into cDNA, and expressed *IG* heavy chain and light chain variable (VH/VL) regions were sequenced and analyzed as previously described (18,19). The amplified VH and VL regions from the CLL donor were cloned and expressed as recombinant IgG1 antibodies (20), then papain-treated to yield Fab fragments for use in ELISA analysis of VLR39 binding. RT-PCR reactions, primer sequences, cloning strategy, expression vectors, antibody expression, and purification were as previously described (20,21). A single-chain variable fragment (scFv) of the CLL donor BCR was constructed by amplifying the VH and VL regions from the recombinant CLL donor IgG1 mAb expression plasmid utilizing overlap-

extension PCR with KOD Hot Start DNA polymerase (Novagen) using a published protocol (22). Primer and PCR cycle profile are detailed in Supplementary Materials and Methods. The CLL donor scFv plasmid was transfected into HEK-293T cells using PEI as described (4). Transfected cells were dissociated from culture plates using Cellstripper (Mediatech) and harvested 48 to 72 h post-transfection. Cell surface expression of CLL donor scFv was verified by flow cytometric analysis for myc-tag expression using Anti-Myc Tag, clone 4A6, Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate (Millipore). Primer and PCR cycle profile for constructing the two scFv mutants are described in Supplementary Materials and Methods.

#### Analysis of VLR39 specificity

For ELISA, 96-Well EIA/RIA Plates (Corning) were coated overnight at 4°C with 5 μg/ml of recombinant Fab fragments either from the donor CLL or another CLL with unmatched V genes. Non-specific binding was blocked with TBS-T/1% milk before incubation with between 1:20 and 1:20480 PBS dilution of 0.5 mg/ml purified VLR39 protein, which was detected with 4C4 anti-VLRB mAb followed by alkaline phosphatase-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG polyclonal antibodies (Southern Biotech). For flow cytometric analysis, MNCs from CLL patients and healthy adults were sequentially incubated with 0.04 mg/ml purified VLR39 protein, followed by Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb, and then CD5, CD19, and 7-AAD staining; cells washed between each incubation step.

#### **Results and Discussion**

## Identification of a donor CLL-specific monoclonal VLRB antibody

Individual clones selected randomly from the CLL-immunized *VLRB* cDNA library were transfected into HEK-293T cells, and transfectant supernatants were assessed by western blot analysis for the presence of secreted VLRB antibodies. Fourteen of 36 transfectants secreted VLRB that was detectable by western blot analysis and these supernatants were analyzed by immunofluorescence for binding to viable donor CLL cells. One monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR39, reacted with the donor CLL cells and not those from other CLL patients (Figure 1), lymphocytes or other types of blood cells from healthy adults, or with B cell leukemia/lymphoma lines (Figure S1). The low MFI of the VLR39 staining for the donor CLL could be due to the relatively inefficient expression and secretion of VLR into the supernatant by transfected HEK-293T cells. To address this issue, the VLR39 supernatant was pooled, and purified protein was used for subsequent analyses. Staining with purified VLR39, rather than transiently transfected HEK-293T supernatant, improved the staining intensity of the donor cells in subsequent expression.

#### VLR39 is specific for the VH CDR3 sequence of the donor CLL

To examine the possibility that VLR39 recognizes an Ig idiotype (Id) determinant on the donor CLL clone, the VH and VL regions of the leukemic clone from the donor CLL and those of another CLL patient, 141, were sequenced and expressed as recombinant Fab fragments. The donor CLL *VH/VL* genes were composed of the *IGHV1*- 69\*01, IGHD3-3\*01, IGHJ4\*02, and the IGKV1-33\*01 and IGKJ3\*01 alleles, whereas the control 141 CLL VH/VL genes were composed of the IGHV4-34\*01, IGHJ5\*02, IGHD2-2\*01, and IGKV1-27\*01 and IGKJ2\*01 alleles. When tested for reactivity by ELISA, VLR39 was found to react with the donor CLL Ig Fab and not with the 141 CLL Ig Fab having different VH/VL gene sequences (Figure 2A). Id-specificity was tested against other CLL cells selected for partial overlap of their VH sequences with the donor CLL BCR sequence (Table S1). VLR39 failed to react with tumor cells from 26 additional CLL patients (Figure S2) even though the BCRs of seven (1153, 1012, 1640, 1324, 1333, 352, 1397) shared identical VH CDR1 and CDR2 amino acid sequences with the donor CLL cells. Moreover, the BCRs of three other CLL patients (1371, 336, 758, 1330) shared identical IGHJ sequences comprising the 3' end of the VH CDR3 (Figure S3). The exquisite Id-specificity of VLR39 was surprising, given that most Ig-based monoclonal anti-Id antibodies cross-react with serum Ig (23) and B cells (24) from healthy individuals. Of note, the CDR3 amino acid sequences for the 26 CLL patients tested were all different from each other, further suggesting that the VLR39 antibody recognizes the unique VH CDR3 sequence of the donor CLL. To test this interpretation, the VH/VL components of the donor CLL BCR and two mutants (1324 HCDR3 swap and donor HCDR3 swap) were expressed by transfected cells as a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) with a myc-tag (Fig 2B) and evaluated for anti-myc and VLR39 binding by immunofluorescence flow cytometry analysis (Figure 2C). The scFv mutant, 1324 HCDR3 swap, replaces the CDR3 signature sequence of the donor CLL VH with the CDR3 signature sequence of 1324 CLL VH. The other scFv mutant, donor HCDR3 swap, replaces the CDR3 signature sequence of the 1324 CLL VH with the CDR3 signature

sequence of the donor CLL VH. The 1324 HCDR3 swap transfectants failed to stain with VLR39, whereas VLR39 and anti-myc co-staining of the donor CLL Ig and donor HCDR3 swap transfectants confirmed that the donor CLL VH CDR3 region is the VLR39 antibody recognition site.

# VLR39 antibody monitoring for CLL recurrence after chemoimmunotherapyinduced remission

The exquisite specificity of VLR39 for the CLL signature HCDR3 epitope and the absence of native Fc-like binding receptors for the lamprey antibody on human cells suggested that this lamprey antibody would be an ideal reagent for tracking the neoplastic clone in the CLL donor after treatment with multiple infusions of Cyclophosphamide, Fludarabine, Alemtuzumab, and Rituximab (CFAR) over a five day period each month for 6 months. This treatment regimen drastically reduced the T cell population and virtually eliminated circulating B cells. To monitor for leukemia recurrence, blood samples were evaluated for VLR39-reactive CD5<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells by flow cytometric analysis (Figure 3). B cells were undetectable 4 months after the beginning of therapy, and progressive reconstitution of both T and B lymphocytes was observed thereafter (Figure 4).  $CD5^+/CD19^+$  cells appeared at very low frequency at 29 months after CFAR therapy, and gradually increased by 56 months. The interpretation of this development was unclear given that some B cells in healthy individuals express CD5. However, VLR39<sup>+</sup> B cells were detectable by 51 months after therapy in the CD5<sup>+</sup> B cell population (Figure 3), when neither the lymphocyte count nor proportion of CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells were significantly increased (Figure 4). To test whether the VLR39<sup>+</sup> cells represented

recurrence of the leukemic clone, we purified the VLR39<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup> and VLR39<sup>-</sup>/CD5<sup>-</sup> B cell populations from the CLL donor for sequence analysis of the VH region (Figure S4). The *IGHV* gene sequence of the VLR39<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup> sorted B cells proved to be identical to that of the original leukemic clone, whereas the VLR39<sup>-</sup>/CD5<sup>-</sup> sorted B cells did not yield a single uniform sequence, indicating their polyclonal nature. The VLR39 idiotope thus provided an early indication of the reemergence of the CLL clone in this patient. When the same blood samples were assayed using quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) for the CLL donor HCDR3 transcripts, the emergence of the leukemia clone was first detectable at 51 months, in agreement with the VLR39 staining results (Supplementary Table S2). There has been longstanding interest in using the tumor-specific nature of anti-Id antibodies for monitoring and treating B cell malignancies (25). One barrier to implementation of this strategy is the arduous nature of generating anti-Id antibodies for each individual patient via hybridoma generation and screening, which can take up to several months after immunizing mice with patient cells. The single chain polypeptide nature of the VLRB protein offers a technological advantage in that the VLRB sequence can be cloned, expressed, and screened within a matter of days after lamprey immunization with patient cells (4). Selection of VLRB antibodies using high-throughput antibody display technologies allows for even more efficient screening of Id-specificity (15). The precise specificities of VLRB antibodies may also facilitate the identification, isolation and characterization of the leukemic clones in patients with B cell malignancies, particularly those with minimal residual disease. Lamprey LRR-based anti-Id antibodies thus offer a complementary biological tool to the classical Ig-based anti-Id antibodies for monitoring the therapy of patients with CLL and other B lineage malignancies.

# **Figures and Legends**



**Figure 1: Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity.** VLR39 binding (black line) was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity (gray shading). Histogram of VLR39 binding to (A) CLL donor and four other CLL patient lymphocytes gated on CLL cells (CD5<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>+</sup>), T cells (CD5<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>-</sup>), and non-B/T cells (CD5<sup>-</sup>/CD19<sup>-</sup>).





**Figure 2: ELISA and flow cytometric analysis of VLR39 binding to donor CLL Igs.** (A) VLR39 binding to recombinant Fab fragments containing the VH/VL genes of the CLL clone from patient donor and from another patient with unmatched VH/VL genes were compared. ELISA of VLR39 binding to donor CLL Ig Fab (black squares), 141 CLL Ig Fab (white square), hen egg lysozyme (HEL) (black triangles), and PBS (white circles) coated wells. (B) Sequence alignment of HCDR3 region from donor CLL IgH, 1324 CLL IgH, and the two scFv mutants, 1324 HCDR3 swap and donor HCDR3 swap.

The HCDR3 signature sequences of donor CLL (bold, underline text) and the HCDR3 signature sequences of CLL patient 1324 (italic, underline text) were swapped with each other to construct the two scFv mutants. (C) Flow cytometric analysis of VLR39 binding to HEK-293T cells transfected with donor CLL Ig scFv or the two scFv mutants. Myc-tag was co-stained to measure scFv surface expression. The IgH sequences of donor CLL and 1324 CLL in panel B were provided by R. Catera and N. Chiorazzi.



**Figure 3: Monitoring for CLL recurrence.** Blood samples were periodically obtained from CLL donor after treatment and analyzed by flow cytometry for recurrence of VLR39<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>+</sup> cells. Each time point is calculated as months after end of the CFAR treatment regimen. VLR39 binding (black line) was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity (gray shading). Anti-CD5 and anti-CD19 staining of CLL donor MNCs after treatment (left column). Histograms of VLR39

binding to CLL donor lymphocytes gated on  $CD5^+$  (center column) or  $CD5^-CD19^+$  B cells (right column).

Figure 4



**Figure 4: B cell and absolute lymphocyte count of patient after treatment.** The blood counts from the CLL donor's clinical laboratory studies were used to plot absolute lymphocyte over time (black circle and line, left Y axis). We calculated the proportion of CD5<sup>-</sup> B cells (gray bars) and CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells (black bars) from our own flow cytometric studies, and plotted it as a percentage of total lymphocytes over time (right Y axis).

### **Supplementary Materials and Methods**

## Cloning of CLL donor BCR as scFv

Briefly, for the first round of PCR, the VH region was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd (GTCCTCGCAACTGCCCCATCCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTGCA GCTGGTGCAGTCTGG) and 3' primer containing a (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence, CLL655\_VH\_scFv\_Rev (CCGCCGGATCCACCTCCGCCTGAACCGCCTCCACCTGAGGAGACGGTGAC)

with the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 55°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min)  $\times$  25, 72°C for 7 min. For VL region amplification, a 5' primer containing a (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence, CLL655\_VL\_scFv\_Fwd

(GGAGGCGGTTCAGGCGGAGGTGGATCCGGCGGTGGCGGATCGGACATCCAG ATGACCCAGTCTCC) and 3' primer containing a SalI site and FLAG tag,

CLL655\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev

(GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG TTTGATATCCACTTTGGT) were used with the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 55°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 25, 72°C for 7 min. For the second round of PCR, the scFv gene was assembled by overlap-extension based on the (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence homology between the VH and VL PCR products using the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 60°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 6, 72°C for 7 min. In the third round of PCR, the assembled scFv gene was PCR amplified using the outside primers, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd and CLL655\_VL\_FR4\_Sall\_Rev using the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 55°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 25, 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were purified by QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen), digested with XmaI and SalI (New England Biolabs), and cloned into pDISPLAY vector (Invitrogen) using T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs). CLL donor scFv plasmid was purified from transformed NovaBlue competent cells (Novagen) with the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen).

## **Construction of scFv mutants**

The two scFv mutants were constructed by amplifying the VH and VL regions from the wildtype CLL donor scFv plasmid utilizing overlap-extension PCR as described above, except using different primer sets for the first round of PCR. For the 1324 HCDR3 Swap scFV mutant, the VH region was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd

(GTCCTCGCAACTGCCCCATCCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTGCA GCTGGTGCAGTCTGG) and 3' primer containing the CLL1324 VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, CLL655\_FR3-1324\_CDR3\_Rev

(TTGTTGATAATAACTCCCTGAACCATAGGACGCCTCTCTCGCACAGTAATA ). The VL region was amplified using a 5' primer containing the CLL1324 VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, CLL1324\_CDR3-655\_FR4\_Fwd

(GAGGCGTCCTATGGTTCAGGGAGTTATTATCAACAATACTTTGACTACTGG) and 3' primer containing a SalI site and FLAG tag, CLL655\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev (GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG TTTGATATCCACTTTGGT). The 1324 HCDR3 Swap scFv gene was assembled by overlap-extension based on the CLL1324 VH CDR3 sequence homology between the VH and VL PCR products. For the Donor HCDR3 Swap scFv mutant, the VH region was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd (GTCCTCGCAACTGCCCCATCCCGGGGGCCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTGCA GCTGGTGCAGTCTGG) and 3' primer containing the CLL1324 VH FR4 sequence as overhang, CLL655\_CDR3-1324\_FR4\_Rev

(TGAGGAGACGGTGACCGTGGTCCCTTTGCCCCAGACGTCCATGTAGTAGTAG TAGTAGTAGTACCCCCAAAAATC). The VL region was amplified using a 5' primer containing the CLL1324 VH FR4 sequence as overhang and 5' end of a (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence, CLL1324\_FR4-GlySer\_Fwd

(TACTACTACTACTACATGGACGTCTGGGGGCAAAGGGACCACGGTCACCG TCTCCTCAGGTGGAGGCGGTTCA) and 3' primer containing a SalI site and FLAG tag, CLL655\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev

(GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG TTTGATATCCACTTTGGT). The Donor HCDR3 Swap scFv gene was assembled by overlap-extension based on the (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence homology between the VH and VL PCR products.

#### **Quantitative real-time PCR**

RNA from CLL donor MNCs were converted into cDNA as described in Materials and Methods. Quantitative real-time PCR was done using the Customized TaqMan® Gene Expression Assay (Invitrogen) on a LightCycler® 480 Instrument II (Roche). The sequences for the upstream IGHV1 allele-specific primer, downstream IGHJ4 allele-specific primer, and the TaqMan probe complementary to the hypervariable V–N–D region of the CLL donor HCDR3 are as follows: upstream primer

(GCTGAGCAGCCTGAGATCTG), downstream primer

(GGCCCCAGTAGTCAAAGTAGTAC), and probe

(CTGTGCGAGAGTTACAGTCAAG). Two independent quantitative real-time PCR reactions with duplicate samples were performed, and the value of the target gene was normalized to the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) gene. The fold change in the CLL donor HCDR3 transcript relative to the GAPDH endogenous control was determined by the following formulas:

Fold Change =  $2^{-\Delta(\Delta CT)}$ 

 $\Delta C_{T} = C_{T, CLL \text{ donor HCDR3}} - C_{T, GAPDH}$ 

 $\Delta(\Delta C_{T}) = \Delta C_{T, \text{ stimulated }} - \Delta C_{T, \text{ control}}$ 

# **Supplementary Figures and Legends**





Figure S1: Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity with different cell types and cell lines. VLR39 binding (red line) was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity (gray shading). Histogram of VLR39 binding to (A) five different healthy donor lymphocytes gated on B cells (CD3<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>+</sup>), T cells (CD3<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>-</sup>), and non-B/T cells (CD3<sup>-</sup>/CD19<sup>-</sup>), (B) four EBV transformed B cells, and (C) four different human B cell leukemia/lymphoma lines, including pre-B cell leukemia (697), Burkitt's Lymphoma (Daudi, Ramos), and diffuse large B cell lymphoma (SU-DHL-6).

CLL ID	IGHV Gene	IGHD Gene	IGHJ Gene	HCDR3 amino acid sequence
Donor	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ4*02	AR VTVK <mark>YYDFWGY</mark> YFDY
1153	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ4*02	DDS <mark>YYDFWS</mark> GWY <mark>Y</mark>
1012	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ6*03	AR VE <mark>IFGVV</mark> GLSYYYYYMDV
1640	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ6*03	<mark>AR</mark> GA <mark>IFGVVII</mark> PVTPFYMDV
859	IGHV3-09*01	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ4*02	AKDASSN <mark>YDFWSGYY</mark> DY
1371	IGHV4-b*02	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ4*02	ARVMEK <mark>YYDFWSGYY</mark> YFD
1324	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-10*01	IGHJ6*03	AR <mark>EASYGSGSYYQQYYYYYMDV</mark>
1333	IGHV1-69*01	IGHD3-10*01	IGHJ6*02	<mark>A</mark> VGVLWFGELLFSYYYYYGMD
352	IGHV1-69*05	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ6*02	AGRL <mark>IFGVVI</mark> TAGGDYGMDV
1301	IGHV4-31*03	IGHD3-3*01	IGHJ3*02	ARAPIGS <mark>TIFGV VII</mark> RFAFDI
276	IGHV1-2*02	IGHD2-21*02	IGHJ4*02	ARTQIGDCGGDCYP <mark>FDY</mark>
336	IGHV1-3*01	IGHD6-19*01	IGHJ4*02	AREQWLVLS <mark>YFDY</mark>
606	IGHV1-2*04	IGHD3-10*01	IGHJ4*02	ARDLRYSYGSGSTPFLDS
758	IGHV1-18*01	IGHD3-16*01	IGHJ4*02	ARKSWVGAY <mark>YFDY</mark>
854	IGHV1-3*01	IGHD2-2*01	IGHJ4*02	VSHYCTSSTCDQM <mark>Y</mark>
1222	IGHV1-2*02	IGHD6-19*01	IGHJ4*02	AREQWLASPNL <mark>DY</mark>
1271	IGHV4-34*02	IGHD6-6*01	IGHJ4*02	ARGRWSPKFVL
1299	IGHV3-23*01/IGHV3-23*02	IGHD2-2*01	IGHJ4*03	AKGLVIGLPDV
1330	IGHV3-7*03	IGHD2-8*01	IGHJ4*02	ARSSRDGTNDYDGEYR <mark>YFDY</mark>
1240	IGHV3-33*01/IGHV3-33*06	IGHD3-9*01	IGHJ2*01	ATRPQLNYDILTGYYIGGGYFDL
1294	IGHV3-21*01	IGHD7-27*01	IGHJ6*03	ARDPYRGLYGMFYFYYMDV
1317	IGHV4-59*01	IGHD2-21*02	IGHJ3*02	ARNPYCGGDCYSDAFDI
1319	IGHV4-31*03	IGHD2-2*02	IGHJ6*02	ARDLYGWTYCSSTSCYRYYGMDV
1326	IGHV3-53*04	IGHD5-12*01	IGHJ6*02	ARDRVDIVATTTYYYYYYGMDV
1344	IGHV1-69*02	IGHD2-21*02	IGHJ5*02	ARSTNLDYFFAAVTGNWFDP
1358	IGHV4-34*02	IGHD2-8*01	IGHJ6*02	TRAMDYYYGMDV
1397	IGHV1-69*06	IGHD3-22*01	IGHJ6*02	ATPPRGTYDSSGYYYGGLDNYYGMDV

Table S1. CLL VH gene families and HCDR3 sequences

**Table S1: CLL VH gene families and HCDR3 sequences.** The *IGHV*, *IGHD*, and *IGHJ* genes and the HCDR3 amino acid sequences expressed in the leukemic cells of 26 CLL patients tested for VLR39 reactivity are shown. Shared VH gene family usage between CLL donor and other CLL patients are highlighted in yellow (*IGHV*), blue (*IGHD*), and green (*IGHJ*). CLL VH gene family determination and all sequences were provided by R. Catera and N. Chiorazzi.

# Figure S2



**Figure S2: Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR39 reactivity with CLL cells with different** *VH* **gene sets.** VLR39 binding (red line) was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity (gray shading). Histogram of VLR39 binding to 26 CLL patients with known *VH* gene sequences (gated on CD5<sup>+</sup>/CD19<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes).

# Figure S3

Text International and the international
Donor 1153 1153 1640 859 1371 1324 1333 352 606 606 758 854 1324 1222 1222 1222 1333 1354 1319 1326 1336 1336

**Figure S3: CLL VH gene sequence analysis.** Sequence alignment between the IGVH-D-J gene rearrangements of CLL donor and those of the 26 CLL patients tested for VLR39 reactivity by flow cytometry are shown. Shared VH gene family usage between CLL donor and other CLL patients are highlighted in yellow (*IGVH*), blue (*IGHD*), and green (*IGHJ*). Identical CDR1, CDR2, and IGHJ amino acid sequences are shown in red. All sequences were provided by R. Catera and N. Chiorazzi.
<cdr1cdr1cdr1< th=""><th>nor CAGGTGCAGCTGGTGCAGTCTGGGGGCTGAGGTGAAGAAGCCTGGGTCCTCGGTGAAGGTCTCCTGCAAGGCTTCTGGAGGCACCTTCAGCAGCTATGCTA R39<sup>+</sup></th><th> nor TCAGCTGGGTGCGACCAGGCCCTGGACAGGGCTTGAGTGGAGGGGATCATCCCTATCTTTGGTACAGCAAACTACGCACAGAAGTTCCAGGGCAG TCAGCTGGGTGCGACAGGCCCCTGGACAAGGGCTTGAGTGGGAGGGA</th><th>201 201 AGT CACGAT TACCGCGGACGAAT CCACGAGCACAGCCT ACAT GGAGCT GAGCAGCCTGAGAT CT GAGGACACGGCCGT GT AT TACT GT GCGAGAGT TACA 839* AGT CACGAT TACCGCGGGACGAAT CCACGAGCACAGCCT ACAT GGAGCCT GAGCAT CT GAGGACACGGCCGT GT AT TACT GT GCGAGAGT TACA</th><th>CDR3&gt;&lt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&gt;&lt;&gt;&gt;&gt;&gt;&gt;&gt;</th></cdr1cdr1cdr1<>	nor CAGGTGCAGCTGGTGCAGTCTGGGGGCTGAGGTGAAGAAGCCTGGGTCCTCGGTGAAGGTCTCCTGCAAGGCTTCTGGAGGCACCTTCAGCAGCTATGCTA R39 <sup>+</sup>	 nor TCAGCTGGGTGCGACCAGGCCCTGGACAGGGCTTGAGTGGAGGGGATCATCCCTATCTTTGGTACAGCAAACTACGCACAGAAGTTCCAGGGCAG TCAGCTGGGTGCGACAGGCCCCTGGACAAGGGCTTGAGTGGGAGGGA	201 201 AGT CACGAT TACCGCGGACGAAT CCACGAGCACAGCCT ACAT GGAGCT GAGCAGCCTGAGAT CT GAGGACACGGCCGT GT AT TACT GT GCGAGAGT TACA 839* AGT CACGAT TACCGCGGGACGAAT CCACGAGCACAGCCT ACAT GGAGCCT GAGCAT CT GAGGACACGGCCGT GT AT TACT GT GCGAGAGT TACA	CDR3><><><><><>><>><>>>>>>
	Donor VLR39 <sup>+</sup>	Donor VLR39 <sup>+</sup>	Donor VLR39 <sup>+</sup>	Donor VI.R 39+

**Figure S4: IGHV-D-J sequence alignment of VLR39 sorted cells.** Sequence alignment between the IGHV-D-J gene rearrangement of CLL donor and those of the VLR39<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>hi</sup> cells sorted from the CLL donor B cells at 58 months after treatment. No significant alignment was possible for the VLR39<sup>-</sup>/CD5<sup>lo</sup> cells. Nucleotide identity to the

original CLL donor IGHV-D-J sequencing results is highlighted in gray.

Months After End of CFAR Treatment	Donor CLL HCDR3 (C <sub>T</sub> )	GAPDH (C <sub>T</sub> )	ΔCτ	$\Delta(\Delta C_T)$	Fold Change	CLL HCDR3 Detection
38	not detectable	$18.7\pm0.1$	0.00	0	0	negative
51	37.48	$25.4\pm0.4$	12.10	2.02	0.25	weak positive
56	$26.4\pm0.1$	$18.4\pm0.2$	8.02	-2.02	4.05	positive

Table S2. Detection of CLL recurrence by quantitative real-time PCR

#### Table S2: Detection of CLL recurrence by quantitative real-time PCR.

Cryopreserved MNCs from the CLL donor after treatment were analyzed by qPCR for the presence of CLL donor HCDR3 transcript. Each time point is calculated as months after end of CFAR treatment regimen. The  $C_T$ ,  $\Delta C_T$ , and  $\Delta(\Delta C_T)$  of the qPCR reaction using the CLL donor HCDR3-specific probe and GAPDH probes were used to calculate the fold change in the CLL donor HCDR3 transcript relative to the GAPDH endogenous control. Data generated by X-J. Yan.

#### References

- 1. Pancer Z, Amemiya CT, Ehrhardt GRA, Ceitlin J, Gartland GL, Cooper MD. Somatic diversification of variable lymphocyte receptors in the agnathan sea lamprey. Nature [Internet]. 2004;430:174–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15241406
- Alder MN, Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Glazko G V, Cooper MD, Pancer Z. Diversity and function of adaptive immune receptors in a jawless vertebrate. Science [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2013 Mar 7];310:1970–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16373579
- Kim HM, Oh SC, Lim KJ, Kasamatsu J, Heo JY, Park BS, et al. Structural diversity of the hagfish variable lymphocyte receptors. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2013 Mar 6];282:6726–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17192264
- 4. Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2040–5.
- 5. Deng L, Velikovsky CA, Xu G, Iyer LM, Tasumi S, Kerzic MC, et al. A structural basis for antigen recognition by the T cell-like lymphocytes of sea lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2011 Aug 19];107:13408–13. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2922149&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Han BW, Herrin BR, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Antigen recognition by variable lymphocyte receptors. Science [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Apr 12];321:1834–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2581502&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Velikovsky CA, Deng L, Tasumi S, Iyer LM, Kerzic MC, Aravind L, et al. Structure of a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor in complex with a protein antigen. Nat Struct Mol Biol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2013 Dec 3];16:725–30. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722044&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Kirchdoerfer RN, Herrin BR, Han BW, Turnbough CL, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Variable lymphocyte receptor recognition of the immunodominant glycoprotein of Bacillus anthracis spores. Structure [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 12];20:479–86. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22405006

- 9. Guo P, Hirano M, Herrin BR, Li J, Yu C, Sadlonova A, et al. Dual nature of the adaptive immune system in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2011 Jun 23];459:796–801. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2714547&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Kasamatsu J, Sutoh Y, Fugo K, Otsuka N, Iwabuchi K, Kasahara M. Identification of a third variable lymphocyte receptor in the lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2011 Dec 3];107:14304–8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2922563&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Alder MN, Herrin BR, Sadlonova A, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Gartland LA, et al. Antibody responses of variable lymphocyte receptors in the lamprey. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2011 Jul 27];9:319–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18246071
- Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Liang L, Glazko G V, Liston VG, Pavlov YI, et al. Evolution and diversification of lamprey antigen receptors: evidence for involvement of an AID-APOBEC family cytosine deaminase. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:647–56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17468760
- 13. Nagawa F, Kishishita N, Shimizu K, Hirose S, Miyoshi M, Nezu J, et al. Antigenreceptor genes of the agnathan lamprey are assembled by a process involving copy choice. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:206–13. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17187071
- 14. Kishishita N, Matsuno T, Takahashi Y, Takaba H, Nishizumi H, Nagawa F. Regulation of antigen-receptor gene assembly in hagfish. EMBO Rep [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2010 [cited 2012 Nov 1];11:126–32. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2828746&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- 15. Tasumi S, Velikovsky CA, Xu G, Gai SA, Wittrup KD, Flajnik MF, et al. Highaffinity lamprey VLRA and VLRB monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2012 Feb 2];106:12891–6. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722331&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Yu C, Ali S, St-Germain J, Liu Y, Yu X, Jaye DL, et al. Purification and identification of cell surface antigens using lamprey monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2012 [cited 2013 Mar 29];386:43–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22964555

- Pancer Z, Mariuzza RA. The oldest antibodies newly discovered. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2012 Feb 17];26:402–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18392023
- 18. Fais F, Ghiotto F, Hashimoto S, Sellars B, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells express restricted sets of mutated and unmutated antigen receptors. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 1998;102:1515–25. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=509001&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract
- 19. Ghiotto F, Fais F, Valetto A, Albesiano E, Hashimoto S, Dono M, et al. Remarkably similar antigen receptors among a subset of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2011 Nov 10];113:1008–16. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=379317&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract
- Hervé M, Xu K, Ng Y-S, Wardemann H, Albesiano E, Messmer BT, et al. Unmutated and mutated chronic lymphocytic leukemias derive from self-reactive B cell precursors despite expressing different antibody reactivity. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2012 Feb 17];115:1636–43. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1088018&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Wardemann H, Yurasov S, Schaefer A, Young JW, Meffre E, Nussenzweig MC. Predominant autoantibody production by early human B cell precursors. Science [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2013 Dec 13];301:1374–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12920303
- Lantto J, Jirholt P, Barrios Y, Ohlin M. Chain shuffling to modify properties of recombinant immunoglobulins. Methods Mol Biol [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2013 Mar 7];178:303–16. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11968500
- 23. Miller RA, Hart S, Samoszuk M, Coulter C, Brown S, Czerwinski D, et al. Shared idiotypes expressed by human B-cell lymphomas. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1989 [cited 2013 Jan 3];321:851–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2475779
- 24. Kiyotaki M, Cooper MD, Bertoli LF, Kearney JF, Kubagawa H. Monoclonal anti-Id antibodies react with varying proportions of human B lineage cells. J Immunol [Internet]. 1987 [cited 2013 Jan 3];138:4150–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3495581

25. Miller RA, Maloney DG, Warnke R, Levy R. Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1982 [cited 2013 Jan 2];306:517–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6173751

## Chapter 3

### Recognition of a mouse BCL1 leukemia BCR idiotope by a lamprey antibody.

A version of this chapter has been prepared for submission to Monoclonal Antibodies in

Immunodiagnosis and Immunotherapy as: Nakahara, H., Herrin, B.R., Cooper M.D.

"Recognition of a mouse BCL1 leukemia BCR idiotope by a lamprey antibody."

#### Abstract

Jawless vertebrates (lamprey and hagfish) possess an unusual adaptive immune system that lacks the conventional Ig/TCR genes used by all other vertebrate species for antigen recognition. Instead, jawless vertebrates use leucine-rich repeat (LRR) sequences to generate three types of variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR): VLRA and VLRB expressed on T-like cells, and VLRB expressed on B-like cells. In response to immunization, VLRB cells proliferate and differentiate into VLRB antibody-secreting plasmacytes. To generate tumor-specific VLRB antibodies, we immunized lampreys with mouse BCL1 leukemia cells to generate recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibodies, which then were screened for specific binding to BCL1 cells and lack of cross-reactivity to other B cells. A tumor-specific clone, VLR-C8, was found to target a B cell receptor idiotope on the complementarity determining region 3 (CDR3) of the heavy and light chain variable region (VH/VL). The ease with which lampreys produce highly specific anti-idiotype antibodies in response to immunization with leukemia cells suggests their usefulness for generating anti-idiotype antibodies that can be used for the analysis of B cell malignancies.

#### Introduction

Jawless vertebrates (lamprey and hagfish) use variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR) consisting of variable numbers of sequence diverse leucine-rich repeat (LRR) subunits as antigen receptors instead of the Ig-based TCR and BCR used by all jawed vertebrates (1). During VLR gene assembly, the LRR subunits flanking the incomplete germline VLR gene are randomly selected for use as templates to sequentially replace the non-coding intervening sequences in a gene conversion-like process (2,3). In this way VLR assembly can generate a potential VLR repertoire size of greater than 10<sup>14</sup> unique receptors comparable in size to the mammalian antibody repertoire (4). Allelic exclusion ensures that a single, unique VLR gene is expressed by each lymphocyte (1,4).

Lampreys (5–7) and hagfish (8) have three types of VLR. VLRA and VLRC cells are T-like cells that assemble their receptors in a thymus-equivalent structure in the gills known as thymoids (7,9), whereas VLRB assembly in B-like cells occurs in the typholosole and kidneys. All of the VLRs are expressed as cell surface receptors, but only VLRB cells are capable of secreting multimeric VLRB antibodies as plasma cells after undergoing proliferation and differentiation in response to antigen stimulation (10,11).

Much like other LRR family proteins, the VLR proteins form a crescent-shaped, solenoidal shape (12–15). Antigen contact occurs on the VLR concave surface formed by the parallel  $\beta$ -strands of the variable LRR and, for VLRA and VLRB, an extended hypervariable loop of the C-terminal LRR (13–16). Recombinant, monoclonal VLR proteins have been produced by cloning VLR cDNA from lymphocytes followed by expression in HEK-293T cells (10) or yeast surface display libraries (17); the monoclonal

VLRs can then be screened for antigen-specificity. This approach has yielded highly specific monoclonal VLRB antibodies against a variety of antigens: the BclA protein of *Bacillus anthracis* exosporium (10,16), the H-trisaccharide antigen of human blood group O erythrocytes (13), HEL (14), human CD5 (18), BCR idiotope of a B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia clone (19), the TF $\alpha$  disaccharide pancarcinoma antigen (15), and others (17,20).

The VLRB antibodies represent a new class of antigen-specific binding molecules that may recognize novel epitopes due to their unique structure which utilizes a rigid LRR  $\beta$ -strand surface and a flexible, extended LRRCT loop for antigen binding (13–16). They have been shown to have exquisite specificity for glycan determinants (13,15,16), specificities that exceed those of conventional antibodies (21) and lectins (22). The absence of antigens common to mammals in jawless vertebrates should also allow VLRB to recognize epitopes that represent an immunologic blind spot for mammalian antibodies, the repertoires of which are biased through germline V(D)J selection and immune tolerance mechanisms.

In a previous study (19), a VLRB library from lamprey immunized with a patient's B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells was screened for tumorspecific VLRB clones. We identified a monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR39, which was specific for the patient CLL clone and proved to target a VH CDR3 idiotope of the BCR. In the present study, we immunized lampreys with mouse BCL1 leukemia cells to generate and characterize tumor-specific VLRB clones that could be developed as tumor-targeting reagents. We identified a monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR-C8 which also proved to target a BCR idiotope shared between VH CDR3 and VL CDR3, and to be capable of binding to BCL1 cells as a monomeric VLRB antibody and a dimeric VLR-Fc fusion protein.

#### **Material and Methods**

#### Cells and cell lines

BCL1 cells were obtained from Drs. Jonathan W. Uhr and Ellen S. Vitetta (University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX), and maintained by *in vivo* passage in BALB/c mice. The *in vitro* culture adapted strain, BCL1-3B3, was obtained from Drs. Jerry M. Boss and Samuel H. Speck (Emory University, Atlanta, GA). Mouse B cell lines were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES, 1% MEM non-essential amino acids solution (GIBCO), 0.05 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 10% FBS at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. HEK-293T cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### **BCL1 mouse leukemia model**

BCL1 is a murine IgM/Igλ B cell leukemia of BALB/c origin (23). Transfer of BCL1 cells into normal BALB/c mice induces hepatosplenomegaly and leukemia with death occurring at 2 to 4 months (24). The BCL1 tumor does not survive *in vitro* culture, and is maintained by *in vivo* passage in BALB/c mice. Six-to-eight week old BALB/cAnNHsd mice were obtained from Harlan (Indianapolis, IN) and maintained at Emory University under standard conditions. Two months after intraperitoneal BCL1 tumor injection, the animals were euthanized and the splenocytes were harvested by masceration of whole spleen with frosted glass slides followed by incubation with ACK Lysing Buffer for erythrocyte lysis, and then washing with PBS. The splenocytes were cryopreserved or directly injected into naïve BALB/c mice for *in vivo* passage. All experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Emory University.

#### Antibodies and flow cytometry

The VLRB-specific 8A5 mouse IgG1/k monoclonal antibody (mAb) was labeled with Alexa Fluor 488 or Alexa Fluor 647 Protein Labeling Kit (Invitrogen), and recognizes 80% of VLRB clones as described previously (19). Unlabeled goat anti-mouse IgM, goat anti-mouse Ig(H+L)-APC, rat anti-mouse antibodies Lambda-PE and CD19-APC were obtained from Southern Biotech. Propidium iodide and 7-AAD were obtained from BD Biosciences.

# Lamprey immunization, VLRB cDNA library screening, purification of monoclonal VLRB antibody

Lamprey larvae were maintained as previously described (4) and immunized with three biweekly intracoelomic injections of 1x10<sup>7</sup> splenocytes from BCL1-tumor bearing mice. Two weeks after the third immunization, the lampreys were sacrificed and the plasma and buffy coat were collected. BCL1-reactive VLRB production was assessed by incubating BCL1 splenocytes with the collected lamprey plasma, then with Alexa Fluor 647 dye-conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb, with cell washing between each incubation step before flow cytometric analysis. Of the 6 immunized animals, the buffy coat leukocytes from the lamprey with the highest titer of BCL1-reactive VLRB antibodies was used to construct a VLRB cDNA library which was expressed as recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibodies as described previously (10,19). To assess the BCL1 specificity of the monoclonal VLRB antibodies, splenocytes from BCL1 tumor-bearing mice and healthy control mice were sequentially incubated with VLRB transfectant supernatants, followed by Alexa Fluor 647 dye-conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb, before blocking with 5% mouse serum and staining for Igλ chain and CD19. Cells were washed in PBS between each incubation step and propidium iodide added before flow cytometric analysis of the cells. After obtaining the recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibody of interest, they were purified using its N-terminal hexahistidine-tag as described previously (19). All experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Emory University.

#### **Surface Ig modulation**

BCL1-3B3 cells were incubated with 2.5  $\mu$ g/ml of unlabeled goat anti-mouse IgM without sodium azide(Southern Biotech) in culture media at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 30, 10, or untreated before sequentially incubated with VLRB transfectant supernatants followed by Alexa Fluor 647 dye-conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb, or PBS followed by goat anti-mouse Ig(H+L)-APC. Cells were washed in PBS between each incubation step before flow cytometric analysis of the cells.

#### Cloning, expression, and sequence analysis of mouse BCL1 BCR

The BCL1 BCR was cloned as a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) as previously described (19). Briefly, RNA from BCL1-3B3 cells were converted into cDNA, and the VH and VL regions were amplified using an overlap-extension PCR strategy with mouse V gene primer sequences (25) adapted for use in a published protocol (22). Primer and PCR cycle profile are detailed in Supplementary Materials and Methods. The scFv plasmid was expressed on the surface of HEK-293T cells by PEI transfection and harvested as described previously (10,19). After confirming VLR-C8 reactivity with the BCL1 scFv, four hybrid scFv mutants were constructed by swapping the VH CDR3 or VL CDR3 sequence between the BCL1 and CLL scFv as described in Supplementary Materials and Methods.

#### Analysis of VLR-C8 idiotope specificity for BCL1 BCR

For flow cytometric analysis, the scFv transfected 293T were sequentially incubated with 0.04 mg/ml purified VLR protein, followed by Alexa Fluor 647conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb and Anti-Myc Tag, clone 4A6, Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate (Millipore) and 7-AAD to verify cell surface expression of transfected scFv; cells were washed in PBS between each incubation step.

#### VLRB monomer and dimeric VLR-Fc fusion protein

For the VLRB monomer, the VLRB sequence from the LRRNT to the Thr/Prorich stalk sequence up to the GYVATTT was PCR amplified using a 5' primer containing a NheI site, N6H-VBFc\_NheI\_Fwd (GAGAGCTAGCGCATGTCCCTCGCAGTGTT) and 3' primer containing a BamHI site, N6H-VBFc\_BamHI\_Rev (GAGAGGATCCGGTCGTAGCAACGTAGCCTG) with the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 52°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 35, 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were purified by QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen), digested with NheI and BamHI (New England Biolabs), and cloned into a pIRES-puro-2 vector (Clontech) modified to introduce a hexahistidine-tag between the lamprey VLRB signal peptide and LRRNT (19) using T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs). VLRB monomer expression plasmid was purified from transformed NovaBlue competent cells (Novagen) with the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen). The purified plasmid was transfected into HEK-293T cell lines, and stable transfectants were selected with 2 µg/ml puromycin (Sigma) before expansion in CELLine AD 1000 Flasks (Argos Technologies). The bioreactor supernatants were harvested every 7 days, and the recombinant VLRB protein was purified from supernatant via the hexahistidine tag using Ni-NTA agarose (Qiagen) as described previously (19). For the dimeric VLR-Fc fusion protein, the same PCR fragment was cloned into the hexahistidine-tagged pIRES-puro-2 vector (Clontech) modified to introduce a mouse IgG2a-Fc sequence including the hinge region, right after the BamHI cloning site and then purified as above.

BCL1-3B3 cells were sequentially incubated with VLRB monomer, VLR-Fc fusion protein, or VLRB wildtype decamer as supernatant or purified protein, followed by Alexa Fluor 647 dye-conjugated 8A5 anti-VLRB mAb and 7-AAD. Cells were washed in PBS between each incubation step before flow cytometric analysis of the cells.

#### **Results and Discussion**

#### Identification of a BCL1-specific monoclonal VLRB antibody

Individual clones selected randomly from the BCL1-immunized *VLRB* cDNA library were expressed by transfection into HEK-293T cells, and the transfectant supernatants were analyzed for binding to viable BCL1 cells by immunofluorescence analysis. Since the ratio of Igx:Ig $\lambda$  B cells is greater than 10:1 in healthy mice (26), Ig $\lambda$ was used as a surrogate marker for expansion of IgM/Ig $\lambda$  BCL1 cells (Figure 1A). One monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR-C8, reacted with the BCL1 cells phenotyped as CD19+/Ig $\lambda$ + splenocytes from BCL1 tumor-bearing mice, but had minimal reactivity with splenocytes from healthy mice (Figure 1B). Despite the minimal background staining observed for splenocyte preparations, VLR-C8 specificity for the BCL1 cell line was validated by the complete absence of staining against other mouse B cell lines (Figure 1C).

#### VLR-C8 reactivity after down-modulation of surface Ig

Based on our previous identification of a tumor-specific VLRB anti-idiotypic antibody (19), we examined the possibility that VLR-C8 was also an anti-idiotypic antibody. The ligation of cell surface Ig by anti-Ig antibody induces its redistribution and pinocytosis (27). VLR-C8 reactivity against the BCL1-3B3 cells was found to be reduced by BCR modulation after incubation with anti-IgM antibodies (Fig 2, top panel); the down-modulation of surface Ig was confirmed by cell surface Ig staining with anti-Ig(H+L) (Fig 2, bottom panel). The VLR-C8 staining intensity was reduced proportionately with the reduction of surface Ig staining intensity, thereby indicating that VLR-C8 binds to the surface Ig or an associated component of the BCR.

#### VLR-C8 recognizes the VH/VL CDR3 sequence of the donor CLL

To examine the possibility that VLR-C8 recognizes an Ig idiotope of the BCL1 tumor cells, the VH and VL regions were sequenced and expressed on transfected cells as a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) with a myc-tag. The transfected cells were then evaluated for anti-myc and VLR-C8 binding by immunofluorescence flow cytometry analysis. VLR-C8 was found to react with BCL1 Ig, but not with a control scFv from a CLL donor (Figure 4, left column). To test whether VLR-C8 was recognizing a BCR CDR3 idiotope, the VH/VL CDR3 of the BCL1 Ig and the CLL donor Ig were swapped to construct four hybrid scFv mutants (Figure 3); there were expressed as membranebound scFv on the transfected cells and VLR-C8 reactivity was evaluated by immunofluorescence flow cytometry analysis (Figure 4, middle and right column) as in our previous CLL patient study (19). The permutations that were evaluated were as follows:

- A. Hybrid scFv A replaces the VH CDR3 signature sequence of the BCL1 Ig with the VH CDR3 of CLL donor Ig, but retains the BCL1 VL.
- B. Hybrid scFv B replaces the VH CDR3 signature sequence of the CLL donor Ig with the VH CDR3 of BCL1 Ig, but retains the CLL donor VL.
- C. Hybrid scFv C replaces the VL CDR3 signature sequence of the BCL1 Ig with the VL CDR3 of CLL donor Ig, but retains the BCL1 VH.

D. Hybrid scFv D replaces the VL CDR3 signature sequence of the CLL donor Ig with the VL CDR3 of BCL1 Ig, but retains the CLL donor VH.

Of the hybrid scFv mutants, VLR-C8 staining intensity was highest for the "C" mutant product, which retains a fully intact BCL1 VH and lacks the BCL1 VL CDR3. However, placing the BCL1 VH CDR3 sequence within the FR3/4 of the CLL VH did not confer VLR-C8 binding in "B". This suggests that the YYGN amino acid sequence of the BCL1 VH CDR3 alone is insufficient for optimal VLR-C8 binding.

The missing BCL1 VL CDR3 sequence in "C" may explain its lower staining intensity when compared to the wildtype BCL1 Ig with its fully intact VH/VL. This result can be interpreted to indicate that the ALWYINHFI amino acid sequence of the BCL1 VL CDR3 is necessary for optimal VLR-C8 binding; this possibility is further bolstered by the slight VLR-C8 reactivity observed in "A", which retains a fully intact BCL1 VL, but is missing the BCL1 VH CDR3. As with the BCL1 VH CDR3 sequence in "B", placing the BCL1 VL CDR3 sequence by itself within the FR3/4 of the CLL VL did not confer VLR-C8 binding in "D".

Altogether, the VLR-C8 reactivity observed for the scFv mutants with intact BCL1 VH or VL ("C" and "A" respectively) suggests that the VLR-C8 epitope is comprised of both the VH/VL CDR3 of the BCL1 Ig, albeit with a stronger contribution from the VH CDR3 than from the VL CDR3. The lack of VLR-C8 reactivity in the scFv mutants containing BCL1 VH/VL CDR3 sequence in isolation ("B" and "D" respectively) could be due to a VH/VL CDR3 conformation alteration that is unfavorable for VLR-C8 binding that is enforced by the flanking CLL VH/VL FR3/4.

#### VLR-C8 monmeric and dimeric forms bind to BCL1 cells

VLRB antibodies are secreted as 320 to 400 kDa multimers composed of identical subunits that form disulfide-linked dimers joined to each other at the carboxyl-terminus to form octamers and decamers (10,11). The large size of wildtype VLRB decamers make them unsuitable for many *in vivo* applications, due to limited tissue penetration, slow clearance, and immunogenicity. The smaller sized VLRB monomers (15 to 25 kDa) would be expected to be better suited for *in vivo* applications. However, the affinity of individual VLRB monomers is often in the low micromolar range and therefore may be insufficient for successful antigen-binding (14,28). For immunotherapy purposes, a dimeric VLR-Fc fusion protein could increase the antigen-binding avidity and would also allow for Fc-Fc receptor interactions (29,30).

To evaluate whether the VLR-C8 antibody has sufficient affinity for *in vivo* tumor-targeting, monomeric and dimeric VLR-Fc fusion proteins were tested for binding to BCL1 cells by immunofluorescence flow cytometry analysis (Figure 5). Both the VLR-C8 monomer and VLR-C8-Fc dimer displayed a nearly 2 log shift in staining intensity over the negative control VLR4, a level of reactivity which is comparable to that observed for the VLR-C8 wildtype decamer. As would be expected from the number of VLRB subunits available for avidity interactions, the highest MFI was observed with the decamer, followed by the dimer, and then the monomer.

Although the original goal of screening VLRB antibodies from leukemiaimmunized lampreys was in search of potentially novel epitopes, it is not surprising in retrospect that screening for tumor-specificity yielded results comparable to those obtained in our screening for idiotopes on the malignant B cells from a CLL patient (19). VLR-C8 is thus the second such anti-idiotypic VLRB to be identified, and the location of the epitope on the Ig VH/VL CDR3 suggests that the BCR iditope may be favorably immunogenic in lampreys. This possibility was not anticipated, although the absence of BCRs and TCRs in jawless vertebrates (31,32) could bias the VLRB repertoire towards neo-antigens formed by V(D)J recombination as well as the rest of the Ig molecule. Solving the structure of a VLRB-Ig complex for comparison with known Ig idiotype-anti-idiotype structures may yield further insight (33–38). The tumor-specificity and affinity of individual VLR-C8 monomers allows the future evaluation of tumor targeting *in vivo* using the mouse BCL1 leukemia model. In summary, our data indicates the feasibility of using idiotypic antibodies for use in the diagnosis and monitoring of B cell malignancies.

#### **Figures and Legends**

Figure 1



Figure 1: Flow cytometric analysis of monoclonal VLR-C8 reactivity. VLR-C8

binding (red) was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclAspecificity (gray shading). (A) Anti-CD19 and anti-Ig $\lambda$  chain staining of splenocytes from BCL1 injected (top panel) or healthy control mice (bottom panel). (B) Histogram of VLR-C8 binding to splenocytes from BCL1-injected mice were gated on BCL1 cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>/Ig $\lambda$ <sup>+</sup>), and non-B/T cells (CD19<sup>-</sup>/ Ig $\lambda$ <sup>-</sup>) (top row). Histogram of VLR-C8 binding to normal splenocytes gated on Ig $\lambda$ <sup>+</sup> B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>/Ig $\lambda$ <sup>+</sup>), Ig $\kappa$ <sup>+</sup> B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>/Ig $\lambda$ <sup>-</sup>) and non-B/T cells (CD19<sup>-</sup>/ Ig $\lambda^{-}$ ) (bottom row). (C) Histogram of VLR-C8 binding to the indicated mouse B cell lines.







Histogram of VLR-C8 binding (upper panel) or polyclonal goat anti-mouse Ig(H+L) chain antibody (lower panel) to BCL1-3B3 that were either untreated (red), incubated with anti-mouse IgM antibody for 10 minutes (green), or for 30 minutes (blue).

Unstained controls are shown in gray.

# Figure 3

# ۵

<fr3fr3fr3< th=""><th>YYNQKFKGKATMTVDKSSSTAYMELARLTSEDSAIYYCAR<mark>VIIVKXYDEWGY</mark>YFDYWGQGTTLTVSS</th><th>NYAQKFQGRVTITTADESTSTAYMELSSLRSEDTAVYYCARYYGNYFDYWGQGTLVTVSS</th><th><fr3fr3fr3< th=""><th>NRAPGVPARFSGSLIGDKAALTITGAQTEDEAIYFCQQYDNLPVFTFGSGTKLTVLG</th><th>NLETGVPSRFSGSGSGTDFTFTISSLQPEDIATYYCALW-YINHFIFGPGTKVDIK</th><th></th></fr3fr3fr3<></th></fr3fr3fr3<>	YYNQKFKGKATMTVDKSSSTAYMELARLTSEDSAIYYCAR <mark>VIIVKXYDEWGY</mark> YFDYWGQGTTLTVSS	NYAQKFQGRVTITTADESTSTAYMELSSLRSEDTAVYYCARYYGNYFDYWGQGTLVTVSS	<fr3fr3fr3< th=""><th>NRAPGVPARFSGSLIGDKAALTITGAQTEDEAIYFCQQYDNLPVFTFGSGTKLTVLG</th><th>NLETGVPSRFSGSGSGTDFTFTISSLQPEDIATYYCALW-YINHFIFGPGTKVDIK</th><th></th></fr3fr3fr3<>	NRAPGVPARFSGSLIGDKAALTITGAQTEDEAIYFCQQYDNLPVFTFGSGTKLTVLG	NLETGVPSRFSGSGSGTDFTFTISSLQPEDIATYYCALW-YINHFIFGPGTKVDIK	
В	BCL1 IgH containing CLL HCDR3	CLL IgH containing BCL1 HCDR3		BCL1 IgL containing CLL LCDR3	CLL IgL containing BCL1 LCDR3	

C	Name of seFv	Heevy chain	Lio, L
)	BCL1 scFv	BCL1 IgH	BCI
	CLL scFv	CLL IgH	CLL
	Hybrid scFv A	BCL1 IgH containing CLL HCDR3	BCL
	Hybrid scFv B	CLL IgH containing BCL1 HCDR3	CLL
	Hybrid scFv C	BCL1 IgH	BCL
	Hybrid scFv D	CLL IgH	CLL

<u>ight chain</u> SCL1 lgL SLL lgL SCL1 lgL SLL lgL SCL1 lgL containing <u>CLL LCDR3</u> SLL lgL containing <u>SCL1 LCDR3</u>

**Figure 3: Amino acid sequence alignment of Ig heavy and light chains comprising the hybrid scFv mutants.** (A) Amino acid sequence alignment of Ig heavy and light chains of the BCL1 and CLL clones. The HCDR3 signature sequences of mouse BCL1 (red text) and the HCDR3 signature sequences of human CLL (blue text) are highlighted in gray. The LCDR3 signature sequences of mouse BCL1 (red text) and the LCDR3 signature sequences of human CLL (blue text) are underlined. (B) The swapped portion of the CDR3 signature sequence used to construct the hybrid scFv mutants are shown in gray highlight. (C) The name of the 6 scFv expression constructs, and the Ig heavy and light chain combination comprising them are listed.



**Figure 4: VLR-C8 binding to BCL1, CLL, and hybrid scFv.** Flow cytometric analysis of VLR-C8 binding to HEK-293T cells transfected with BCL1 scFv, CLL scFv, or the four hybrid scFv mutants. Myc-tag was co-stained to measure scFv surface expression.



Figure 5: Flow cytometric analysis of VLR-C8 expressed as a monomer and Fcfusion protein. VLR-C8 binding (red) to BCL1-3B3 was compared with that of control VLR4 having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity (gray shading) either as monomer, VLR-Fc dimer, or VLR wildtype decamer.

#### **Supplementary Materials and Methods**

#### **Cloning of BCL1 BCR as scFv**

Briefly, for the first round of PCR, the VH region was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, BCL1\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd (GTCGACCTGCAGACAGAGATTACCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTT CAGCTGCAGCAGTC) and 3' primer containing a  $(Gly_4-Ser)_3$  linker sequence, BCL1\_VH\_FR4\_scFv\_Rev (CCGCCGGATCCACCTCCGCCTGAACCGCCTCCACCTGAGGAGACTGTGAGAG TGG) with the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 52°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 25, 72°C for 7 min. For VL region amplification, a 5' primer containing a (Gly\_4-Ser)\_3 linker sequence, BCL1\_VL\_scFv\_Fwd (GGAGGCGGTTCAGGCGGAGGTGGATCCGGCGGTGGCGGATCGGACGCTGTT

GTGACTCAGGA) and 3' primer containing a Sall site and FLAG tag,

BCL1\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev

(GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG GCCTAGGACAGTCAMCYTGG) were used with the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 52°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 25, 72°C for 7 min. For the second round of PCR, the scFv gene was assembled by overlap-extension based on the (Gly<sub>4</sub>-Ser)<sub>3</sub> linker sequence homology between the VH and VL PCR products using the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 55°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 6, 72°C for 7 min. In the third round of PCR, the assembled scFv gene was PCR amplified using the outside primers, BCL1\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd and BCL1\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev using the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 55°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min) × 25, 72°C for 7 min. PCR products were purified by QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen), digested with XmaI and SalI (New England Biolabs), and cloned into pDISPLAY vector (Invitrogen) using T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs). BCL1 scFv plasmid was purified from transformed NovaBlue competent cells (Novagen) with the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen).

#### **Construction of scFv mutants**

The four scFv mutants were constructed by amplifying the appropriate VH and VL regions from the BCL1 scFv plasmid and the CLL donor scFv plasmid (19) utilizing overlap-extension PCR as described above, except using different primer sets for the first round of PCR using the following cycle profile: 94°C for 5 min, (94°C, 1 min; 50°C, 1 min; and 72°C, 3 min)  $\times$  25, 72°C for 7 min.

<u>Hybrid scFV mutant A:</u> BCL1 scFv 5' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, BCL1\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd

(GTCGACCTGCAGACAGAGTTACCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTT CAGCTGCAGCAGTC) and 3' primer containing the CLL donor VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, BCL1\_VH\_FR3-CLL655\_VH\_CDR3\_Rev

(GTACCCCCAAAAATCGTAATACTTGACTGTAACTCTTGCACAGTAATAGATG GCAGA). The BCL1 scFv 3' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing the CLL donor VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, CLL655\_VH\_CDR3-

BCL1\_VH\_FR4\_Fwd

(GTCGACCTGCAGACAGAGTTACCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTT

CAGCTGCAGCAGTC) and 3' primer containing the terminal end of the BCL1 scFv, BCL1\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev

(GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG GCCTAGGACAGTCAMCYTGG). Hybrid scFv mutant A was assembled by overlapextension based on the CLL donor VH CDR3 sequence homology between the two PCR products.

<u>Hybrid scFV mutant B:</u> CLL donor scFv 5' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd

(GTCCTCGCAACTGCCCCATCCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTGCA GCTGGTGCAGTCTGG) and 3' primer containing the BCL1 VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, VH\_CLL655\_FR3-BCL1\_CDR3\_Rev

(GTAGTCAAAGTAGTTACCATAGTATCTCGCACAGTAATACACGGC). The CLL donor 3' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing the BCL1 donor VH CDR3 sequence as overhang, VH\_BCL1\_CDR3-655\_FR4\_Fwd

(GCGAGATACTATGGTAACTACTTTGACTACTGGGGGCCAGG) and 3' primer containing the terminal end of the CLL donor scFv, CLL655\_VL\_FR4\_SalI\_Rev (GAGTCATTCTCGACTGCTATGTCGACTTTATCATCATCATCATCTTTATAATCACG TTTGATATCCACTTTGGT). Hybrid scFv mutant B was assembled by overlapextension based on the BCL1 VH CDR3 sequence homology between the two PCR products.

<u>Hybrid scFV mutant C:</u> The BCL1 scFv 5' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, BCL1\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd

(GTCGACCTGCAGACAGAGTTACCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTT

CAGCTGCAGCAGTC) and 3' primer containing the CLL donor VL CDR3 sequence as overhang, VL\_BCL1\_FR3-CLL655\_CDR3\_Rev

(AGTGAATACAGGGAGATTATCATACTGTTGACAGAAATATATTGCCTCATCC TCA). The BCL1 scFv 5' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing the CLL donor VL CDR3 sequence as overhang, VL\_CLL655\_CDR3-BCL1\_FR4\_Fwd (GTCGACCTGCAGACAGAGTTACCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTT CAGCTGCAGCAGTC) and 3' primer containing the 3' end of the pDISPLAY cloning site, pDISPLAY\_BGH\_Rev (TTTTATTAGGAAAGGACAGTGGGA). Hybrid scFv mutant C was assembled by overlap-extension based on the CLL donor VL CDR3 sequence homology between the two PCR products.

<u>Hybrid scFV mutant D:</u> CLL donor scFv 5' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing a XmaI site, CLL655\_VH\_FR1\_XmaI\_Fwd

(GTCCTCGCAACTGCCCCATCCCGGGGGCCCAACCAGCGATGGCCCAGGTGCA GCTGGTGCAGTCTGG) and 3' primer containing the BCL1 VL CDR3 sequence as overhang, VL\_CLL655\_FR3-BCL1\_CDR3\_Rev

(AATAAAATGGTTGATGTACCATAGAGCACAGTAATATGTTGCAATATCTTCA GG). The CLL donor 3' fragment was amplified using a 5' primer containing the BCL1 donor VL CDR3 sequence as overhang, VL\_BCL1\_CDR3-CLL655\_FR4\_Fwd (GCTCTATGGTACATCAACCATTTTATTTTCGGCCCTGGGACC) and 3' primer containing the 3' end of the pDISPLAY cloning site, pDISPLAY\_BGH\_Rev (TTTTATTAGGAAAGGACAGTGGGA). Hybrid scFv mutant D was assembled by overlap-extension based on the BCL1 VL CDR3 sequence homology between the two PCR products.

#### References

- 1. Pancer Z, Amemiya CT, Ehrhardt GRA, Ceitlin J, Gartland GL, Cooper MD. Somatic diversification of variable lymphocyte receptors in the agnathan sea lamprey. Nature [Internet]. 2004;430:174–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15241406
- Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Liang L, Glazko G V, Liston VG, Pavlov YI, et al. Evolution and diversification of lamprey antigen receptors: evidence for involvement of an AID-APOBEC family cytosine deaminase. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:647–56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17468760
- 3. Nagawa F, Kishishita N, Shimizu K, Hirose S, Miyoshi M, Nezu J, et al. Antigenreceptor genes of the agnathan lamprey are assembled by a process involving copy choice. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2011 Aug 19];8:206–13. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17187071
- 4. Alder MN, Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Glazko G V, Cooper MD, Pancer Z. Diversity and function of adaptive immune receptors in a jawless vertebrate. Science [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2013 Mar 7];310:1970–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16373579
- 5. Kasamatsu J, Sutoh Y, Fugo K, Otsuka N, Iwabuchi K, Kasahara M. Identification of a third variable lymphocyte receptor in the lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2011 Dec 3];107:14304–8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2922563&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Das S, Hirano M, Aghaallaei N, Bajoghli B, Boehm T, Cooper MD. Organization of lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor C locus and repertoire development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 May 6];110:6043–8. Available from: http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1302500110
- 7. Hirano M, Guo P, McCurley N, Schorpp M, Das S, Boehm T, et al. Evolutionary implications of a third lymphocyte lineage in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2013 [cited 2013 Nov 12];501:435–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23934109
- Li J, Das S, Herrin BR, Hirano M, Cooper MD. Definition of a third VLR gene in hagfish. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Dec 3];110:15013– 8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23980174
- 9. Bajoghli B, Guo P, Aghaallaei N, Hirano M, Strohmeier C, McCurley N, et al. A thymus candidate in lampreys. Nature [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2011

[cited 2013 Mar 17];470:90–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21293377

- Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2040–5.
- Alder MN, Herrin BR, Sadlonova A, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Gartland LA, et al. Antibody responses of variable lymphocyte receptors in the lamprey. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2011 Jul 27];9:319–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18246071
- Kim HM, Oh SC, Lim KJ, Kasamatsu J, Heo JY, Park BS, et al. Structural diversity of the hagfish variable lymphocyte receptors. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2013 Mar 6];282:6726–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17192264
- Han BW, Herrin BR, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Antigen recognition by variable lymphocyte receptors. Science [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Apr 12];321:1834–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2581502&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Velikovsky CA, Deng L, Tasumi S, Iyer LM, Kerzic MC, Aravind L, et al. Structure of a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor in complex with a protein antigen. Nat Struct Mol Biol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2013 Dec 3];16:725–30. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722044&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Luo M, Velikovsky CA, Yang X, Siddiqui MA, Hong X, Barchi JJ, et al. Recognition of the Thomsen-Friedenreich pancarcinoma carbohydrate antigen by a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Dec 3];288:23597–606. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23782692
- Kirchdoerfer RN, Herrin BR, Han BW, Turnbough CL, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Variable lymphocyte receptor recognition of the immunodominant glycoprotein of Bacillus anthracis spores. Structure [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 12];20:479–86. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22405006
- 17. Tasumi S, Velikovsky CA, Xu G, Gai SA, Wittrup KD, Flajnik MF, et al. Highaffinity lamprey VLRA and VLRB monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2012 Feb 2];106:12891–6. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722331&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract

- Yu C, Ali S, St-Germain J, Liu Y, Yu X, Jaye DL, et al. Purification and identification of cell surface antigens using lamprey monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2012 [cited 2013 Mar 29];386:43–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22964555
- Nakahara H, Herrin BR, Alder MN, Catera R, Yan X-J, Chiorazzi N, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia monitoring with a lamprey idiotope-specific antibody. Cancer Immunol Res [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2014 Feb 18];1:223–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24432304
- Hong X, Ma MZ, Gildersleeve JC, Chowdhury S, Barchi JJ, Mariuzza R a, et al. Sugar-binding proteins from fish: selection of high affinity "lambodies" that recognize biomedically relevant glycans. ACS Chem Biol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 May 20];8:152–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23030719
- 21. Manimala JC, Manimala JC, Roach TA, Roach TA, Li Z, Li Z, et al. Highthroughput carbohydrate microarray profiling of 27 antibodies demonstrates widespread specificity problems. Glycobiology. 2007;17:17C – 23C.
- 22. Manimala JC, Roach TA, Li Z, Gildersleeve JC. High-throughput carbohydrate microarray analysis of 24 lectins. Angew Chemie Int Ed. 2006;45:3607–10.
- Slavin S, Strober S. Spontaneous murine B-cell leukaemia. Nature [Internet]. 1978 [cited 2012 Feb 17];272:624–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/306069
- 24. Krolick K a, Isakson PC, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. Murine B cell leukemia (BCL1): organ distribution and kinetics of growth as determined by fluorescence analysis with an anti-idiotypic antibody. J Immunol [Internet]. 1979 [cited 2014 Jun 3];123:1928–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/385772
- Schaefer J V, Honegger A, Pluckthun A. Antibody Engineering [Internet]. Kontermann R, Dübel S, editors. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2010 [cited 2014 Mar 21]. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-01144-3
- 26. Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, editors. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, Fifth Edition, Updated Edition. Fifth Edit. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2005.
- 27. Taylor RB, Duffus WP, Raff MC, de Petris S. Redistribution and pinocytosis of lymphocyte surface immunoglobulin molecules induced by anti-immunoglobulin antibody. Nat New Biol [Internet]. 1971 [cited 2013 Jun 18];233:225–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20480991
- 28. Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Jul 12];105:2040–5. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2542867&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Binz HK, Amstutz P, Plückthun A. Engineering novel binding proteins from nonimmunoglobulin domains. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2011 Jul 24];23:1257–68. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16211069
- 30. Holliger P, Hudson PJ. Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. Nat Biotechnol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2014 Mar 14];23:1126–36. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16151406
- 31. Pancer Z, Mayer WE, Klein J, Cooper MD. Prototypic T cell receptor and CD4like coreceptor are expressed by lymphocytes in the agnathan sea lamprey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:13273–8.
- 32. Suzuki T, Shin-I T, Kohara Y, Kasahara M. Transcriptome analysis of hagfish leukocytes: A framework for understanding the immune system of jawless fishes. Dev Comp Immunol. 2004;28:993–1003.
- 33. Bentley GA, Boulot G, Riottot MM, Poljak RJ. Three-dimensional structure of an idiotope-anti-idiotope complex. Nature. 1990;348:254–7.
- Ban N, Escobar C, Garcia R, Hasel K, Day J, Greenwood A, et al. Crystal structure of an idiotype-anti-idiotype Fab complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:1604–8.
- 35. Evans S V, Rose DR, To R, Young NM, Bundle DR. Exploring the mimicry of polysaccharide antigens by anti-idiotypic antibodies. The crystallization, molecular replacement, and refinement to 2.8 A resolution of an idiotope-anti-idiotope Fab complex and of the unliganded anti-idiotope Fab. J Mol Biol. 1994;241:691–705.
- Braden BC, Fields BA, Ysern X, Dall'Acqua W, Goldbaum FA, Poljak RJ, et al. Crystal structure of an Fv-Fv idiotope-anti-idiotope complex at 1.9 A resolution. J Mol Biol. 1996;264:137–51.
- 37. Eigenbrot C, Meng YG, Krishnamurthy R, Lipari MT, Presta L, Devaux B, et al. Structural insight into how an anti-idiotypic antibody against D3H44 (anti-tissue factor antibody) restores normal coagulation. J Mol Biol. 2003;331:433–46.
- 38. Bryson S, Julien JP, Isenman DE, Kunert R, Katinger H, Pai EF. Crystal Structure of the Complex between the Fab' Fragment of the Cross-Neutralizing Anti-HIV-1 Antibody 2F5 and the Fab Fragment of Its Anti-idiotypic Antibody 3H6. J Mol Biol. 2008;382:910–9.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

## **Discussion and Future Directions**

For the past four decades, monoclonal antibodies have been the dominant technological platform for producing research, diagnostic, and therapeutic tools (1). Given their remarkable parallels to gnathostome Ig-based antibodies, the discovery of LRR-based VLRB antibodies in jawless vertebrates prompted the question of whether they could also be adapted for biomedical applications. Utilizing a method to produce and screen recombinant, monoclonal VLRB antibodies developed in our lab (2), the work described in this dissertation sought to discover potentially novel tumor-associated antigens by generating and characterizing tumor-specific VLRB antibodies and their targets, and then evaluating their utility as diagnostic and tumor-targeting reagents.

#### Tumor antigen discovery via VLRB antibodies

At the time this work was initiated, it was observed that upon immunization with human blood group O erythrocytes or *B. anthracis* exosporium, the VLRB antibody response was mainly directed against the H-trisaccharide antigen or the BclA glycoprotein, respectively (3,4). However, we lacked detailed knowledge on the breadth of the lamprey VLRB antibody response in response to immunization with whole mammalian cells. The evolutionary distance between lamprey and mammals suggested that VLRB antibodies have the potential to recognize novel antigens that mammalian antibodies could not recognize due to structural and self tolerance restrictions. The flipside of this hypothesis is that a ubiquitous mammalian cell surface antigen may be immunodominant, skewing the VLRB antibody response and obscuring the identification of other antigen specificities.

By characterizing the plasma VLRB reactivity of lampreys immunized with CLL cells from a patient (Chapter 2) we observed a hierarchy of VLRB reactivity led by B cells, followed by monocytes, T cells, and then NK cells (Fig 1). This suggested that the CLL immune plasma contained an array of VLRB clones that recognize different antigens, which we were able to verify by characterizing the recombinant monoclonal VLRB antibodies derived from the VLRB cDNA library of CLL immunized lamprey lymphocytes. The monoclonal VLR39 antibody proved to recognize the BCR idiotope of the patient CLL clone (Chapter 2), whereas another clone, VLR42, was found to be panreactive with B cells (Table 1). In a parallel study, mouse BCL1 leukemia cells were used for lamprey immunization, and a BCR idiotope-specific VLRB clone was found (Chapter 3) among 16 VLRB antibodies reactive with different lymphocyte populations. These results were in line with the different patterns of reactivity to peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) subpopulations exhibited by the 12 monoclonal VLRB antibodies derived from a human CD4+ T cell immunized lamprey (5). Our collective results thus suggest that lamprey immunization with whole mammalian cells elicits a wider spectrum of VLRB antibodies of different specificities, in comparison with the more focused VLRB antibody response generated by immunization with human blood group O erythrocytes and *B. anthracis* exosporium anthrax exosporium (3,4).

The method described in this dissertation for producing recombinant VLRB antibodies in HEK-293T cells suffers from being labor intensive and low throughput,

98

especially compared to yeast surface display (6,7). Individual VLRB cDNA clones are transfected into HEK-293T cells separately, and the cell culture supernatant from each transfectant is screened for antigen-specificity by ELISA or flow cytometric analysis. Each VLRB clone must go through the entire process before the antigen-specificity can be verified, and the efficiency of the process is lowered even further because less than half of the VLRB transfectants are able to secrete the VLRB protein into the supernatant. In contrast, the yeast surface display method allows the whole VLRB cDNA library to be transfected in bulk, and the entire VLRB-expressing yeast population can be enriched for the desired binding-specificities by flow cytometry and cell sorting, greatly improving the efficiency of isolating antigen-binding VLRB clones. Apart from differences in workflow, mammalian and yeast cells notably diverge in their post-translational glycosylation pathway, which may affect the proper folding, biological activity, targeting, and stability of the expressed protein (8,9).

Whether the differences between the two eukaryotic expression systems have practical consequences for finding novel tumor-specific VLRB antibodies remains an open question. Four different VLRB libraries expressed in HEK-293T cells are available for analysis. In the CLL-immune library, 36 VLRB clones were transfected, of which 14 expressed secretory VLRB protein, and 2 monoclonal VLRB antibodies with CLL reactivity were characterized (Chapter 2; Chapter 4 Table 1). In the mouse BCL1immune library, 16 monoclonal VLRB antibodies with BCL1 reactivity were identified from screening 230 transfectants. The human CD4+ T cell-immune library yielded 11 Tcell reactive monoclonal VLRB antibodies out of 151 transfectants (5) and the *B. anthracis* exosporium-immune library yielded 14 BclA-CTD reactive monoclonal VLRB antibodies out of 212 transfectants (2). Despite the numerical disadvantages in the number of clones that can be screened from the HEK-293T expression system, the hit rate for finding antigen-binding clones was higher than expected.

In searching for what may be a rare VLRB clone that can recognize a novel tumor epitope, it will be important to understand the factors that influence the VLRB antibody repertoire available for screening. To this end, a single source of VLRB cDNA should be expressed in mammalian and yeast cells, and their respective VLRB antibody repertoires should be examined for differences. It may be possible to improve the throughput of the HEK-293T system by expressing VLRB as membrane-bound surface molecules (mammalian cell display) (10–12) and then enriching and screening for antigen-binders in the same manner as the yeast surface display system.

The screening strategy employed in the present study ended up selecting for antiidiotypic specificities, which by definition are tumor-specific antigens on B cell malignancies. With the knowledge that lamprey readily make anti-idiotypic VLRB antibodies, the addition of an enrichment step where the idiotypic Ig binders are subtracted should allow access to other epitopes that may be obscured by the abundance of surface Ig on B cells.

#### **Clinical applications of anti-Id VLRB antibodies**

The exquisite specificity of VLR39 for a CLL patient's BCR idiotope on the VH CDR3 was utilized to successfully detect leukemia recurrence prior to any overt clinical signs. Moreover, the detection limit of VLR39 was comparable to the current gold standard testing method of quantitative real-time PCR with V gene allele-specific primers (Chapter 2). Another monoclonal VLRB antibody, VLR-C8, also recognized a BCR idiotope comprised of the VH/VL CDR3.

In contrast to previous reports that VLRB antibodies isolated directly from the library tend to be of low affinity without *in vitro* affinity maturation (2,5,6,13), both VLR39 and VLR-C8 could be expressed as monomeric VLRB proteins which were capable of binding to their cognate BCR idiotope without additional mutagenesis to improve affinity (Chapter 3 Fig 5; Chapter 4 Fig 2). It is tempting to speculate that the molecular flexibility of the Ig CDR loops and the extended LRRCT loop of the VLR cause both structures to adopt conformations with exceptional shape complementarity, though contributions from the rigid, concave LRRV surface should also be taken into account.

The VTVKYYDFWGY amino acid sequence of the CLL patient VH CDR3 by itself is sufficient to confer VLR39 binding, which suggests that VLR39 likely recognizes a linear epitope (Chapter 2, Fig 2). On the other hand, the interaction between VLR-C8 and the VH/VL CDR3 of the mouse BCL1 Ig is not as clear cut (Chapter 3, Fig 4). X-ray crystallography of the VLR39 in complex with CLL patient Ig may shed light on how a VLRB protein interacts with a long, flexible loop structure unlike any of the VLRB-Ag molecular interfaces described previously (13–16).

The apparent immunogenicity of Ig idiotopes in lampreys suggests that the method described in this dissertation may offer an alternative option for generating antiidiotypic reagents that possess specificity and affinity on a par or better than most antiidiotypic Ig antibodies (17,18). Readily available anti-Id antibodies may facilitate the study of clinical cancer dormancy in B cell malignancies (19) by allowing for the capture and study of residual leukemic clones in patients during clinical remission.

It may be impractical to raise highly specific anti-Id antibodies for each individual CLL patient for diagnostic and monitoring purposes. However, up to a third of CLL patients share very similar VH CDR3 sequences and *IGHV* genes or gene families (20); these remarkably similar antigen binding sites are termed stereotyped BCRs (21). Stereotyped BCRs occur much more frequently among patients with unmutated *IGHVs*, who characteristically have the worst clinical outcomes, and certain stereotypes correlate with distinct clinical course and outcomes (22). A panel of antibodies reactive with stereotyped BCRs would thus be useful for targeted diagnostic and therapeutic uses in a significant number of CLL patients, either as soluble effectors or as antigen receptors with exquisite specificity for tumor cells on chimeric antigen receptor T cells (23,24). Because the level of circulating tumor-specific Ig in CLL is lower than in many B cell malignancies, target inhibition by soluble Id is much less likely to reduce the efficiency of such a therapeutic approach. Furthermore, the same antibody that would be used for treatment could also be used to predetermine the levels of circulating CLL Ig in the patient's serum. If this level was deemed too high, an initial "de-bulking" regimen could be used to lower the number of leukemic cells and reduce the serum levels of CLL Ig. Finally, the same antibodies could potentially be used for remission induction therapy or as a consolidation treatment to eliminate residual leukemia cells.

It has been difficult to raise anti-stereotype antibodies by immunization of mice, and this difficulty is thought to be due to self-tolerance constraints owing to the sequence similarity between murine and human *IG* genes. The lack of *IG* genes in lamprey may circumvent the self-tolerance constraints and permit recognition of shared mammalian epitopes. This possibility is supported by the ability of VLR39 to discriminate effectively between CLL donor and other CLL cells with BCRs of very similar amino acid sequences (Chapter 2). The ability of lampreys to produce VLRB antibodies recognizing stereotyped BCRs could therefore provide an attractive means for developing useful reagents for monitoring groups of CLL patients. Lamprey LRR-based anti-Id antibodies thus offer a complementary approach to the use of classical Ig-based anti-Id antibodies in the monitoring and management of patients with CLL.

## **Tumor-targeting VLRB antibodies**

The limitation of the IgG format has driven the search for innovative engineered proteins with new capabilities, especially for *in vivo* applications. Several desired qualities come up repeatedly: small size for improved tumor penetration, simplified and stable structure amenable to cheap manufacture by prokaryotic expression or chemical synthesis, and flexibility to modify valency, function, and pharmacokinetics (25,26). VLRB antibodies fit some of these criteria, and miss on others. The monomeric form of VLRB is relatively small at 15~25 kDa comparable with nanobodies, although not as small as peptides and small molecule drugs. VLRB antibodies are stable under harsh conditions (4) and have been expressed in bacteria, although as inclusion bodies that require *in vitro* folding due to crucial disulfide bonds. The single polypeptide VLRB is amenable to modification by recombinant molecular techniques or biochemistry.

The generation of the high affinity anti-BCL1 idiotope VLR antibody described in Chapter 3 allows for the characterization of VLRB as an *in vivo* tumor targeting reagent in the context of the syngeneic mouse BCL1 leukemia model (27–29). In comparison to tumor models that involve xenograft in immunocompromised mice, the intact immune system in the BCL1 model will also allow for the evaluation of dimeric VLR-Fc fusion proteins to elicit CDC/ADCC, and immunogenicity.

Preliminary experiments indicate that intravenously injected monomeric VLRB is metabolized and excreted rapidly; 24 hours after injection, VLRB monomers were only detected in the gastrointestinal tract (my unreported observations), which suggests that clearance is mediated by biliary exrection. This was somewhat unexpected, as the small size of the VLRB protein should allow for clearance through renal filtration (30). These results are in concordance with the safety record of non-Ig protein scaffolds in clinical trials (31–36), which can be attributed to rapid tissue clearance owing to their small size.

The use of non-human biologics elicit concerns about immunogenicity, which can have adverse effects on the patient in the form of infusion reactions, anaphylaxis, and immune-complex mediated disease (37) as well as loss or change in drug efficacy due to altered pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics via anti-drug antibodies (ADA). The very fact that mouse anti-VLRB monoclonal antibodies have been made (3,38) show that VLRB is immunogenic under the right conditions. However, even an antibody with fully human sequence cannot eliminate immunogenicity, as documented by the 12% incidence of ADA in patients administered fully human anti-TNF $\alpha$  adalimumab (Humira) without additional immunosuppression (39).

As with all the other engineered proteins, the advantages and disadvantages of any given protein will be weighed against its intended use. Given the unique structural features honed over 500 million years of evolution, the VLRB antibody has a very high likelihood of finding and binding to antigens impossible or difficult for other protein scaffolds, and may find clinical application "...in the hands of the physician a victorious weapon against illness and deaths" (40).

# **Figures and Legends**





Figure 1: Flow cytometric analysis of plasma from CLL immunized lamprey. PBMC

from healthy adults were sequentially incubated with CLL-immune lamprey plasma, followed by 4C4 anti-VLRB mAb, and then RPE-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG polyclonal antibodies, before blocking with 5% mouse serum and staining for T cells (CD3), B cells (CD19), monocytes (CD14) and NK cells (NKp46). Cells were washed in PBS between incubation steps and propidium iodide added before flow cytometric analysis of the cells.

Table 1. Screening results of monoclonal VLRB antibodies from CLL immunized

	VLR39	VLR42
CLL ID		
Donor	+	+
Donor (Remission; CD19+)	-	+
33	-	+
37	-	+/-
74	-	+
90	-	++
<b>B</b> cell lines (EBV transformed)		
WT4125	-	++
WT4346	-	++
M4017	-	++
M4107	-	++
Leukemias/Lymphomas	-	
Nalm-16 (pro-B)	-	-
697 (pre-B ALL)	-	-
Daudi (Burkitt's)	-	+/-
Ramos (Burkitt's)	-	-
SU-DHL-6 (Diffuse large B cell)	-	+
NCI-H929 (Multiple myeloma)	-	-

Table 1: Screening results of monoclonal VLRB antibodies from CLL immunizedlampreys. VLR39 and VLR42 reactivity against CLL, EBV transformed B cell lines, andvarious B cell leukemia and lymphoma lines was compared with that of control VLR4having *Bacillus anthracis* BclA-specificity by flow cytometric analysis. The plus andnegative signs indicate difference in staining intensity compared to negative control as

follows: (+/-) less than 0.5 log shift, (+) > 0.5 and < 1.5 log shift, (++) > 2 log shift.





**Figure 2: Flow cytometric analysis of anti-Id VLRB antibodies in monomeric form.** VLR39 and VLR-C8 monomer (top row) binding to CLL scFv and BCL1 scFv respectively, was compared with that of VLR39 and VLR-C8 wildtype decamer (bottom row). Myc-tag was co-stained to measure scFv surface expression.

## References

- 1. Margulies DH. Monoclonal antibodies: producing magic bullets by somatic cell hybridization. J Immunol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2015 Jan 2];174:2451–2. Available from: http://www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2451
- Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2040–5.
- 3. Alder MN, Herrin BR, Sadlonova A, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Gartland LA, et al. Antibody responses of variable lymphocyte receptors in the lamprey. Nat Immunol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2011 Jul 27];9:319–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18246071
- Herrin BR, Alder MN, Roux KH, Sina C, Ehrhardt GRA, Boydston JA, et al. Structure and specificity of lamprey monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Jul 12];105:2040–5. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2542867&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Yu C, Ali S, St-Germain J, Liu Y, Yu X, Jaye DL, et al. Purification and identification of cell surface antigens using lamprey monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2012 [cited 2013 Mar 29];386:43–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22964555
- 6. Tasumi S, Velikovsky CA, Xu G, Gai SA, Wittrup KD, Flajnik MF, et al. Highaffinity lamprey VLRA and VLRB monoclonal antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2012 Feb 2];106:12891–6. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722331&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Xu G, Tasumi S, Pancer Z. Yeast surface display of lamprey variable lymphocyte receptors. Rast JP, Booth JWD, editors. Methods Mol Biol [Internet]. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2011 [cited 2013 Dec 3];748:21–33. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-61779-139-0
- 8. Hamilton SR, Gerngross TU. Glycosylation engineering in yeast: the advent of fully humanized yeast. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2007. page 387–92.
- 9. Spadiut O, Capone S, Krainer F, Glieder A, Herwig C. Microbials for the production of monoclonal antibodies and antibody fragments. Trends Biotechnol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;32:54–60. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.10.002

- 10. Ho M, Nagata S, Pastan I. Isolation of anti-CD22 Fv with high affinity by Fv display on human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2006;103:9637–42. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16763048
- Akamatsu Y, Pakabunto K, Xu Z, Zhang Y, Tsurushita N. Whole IgG surface display on mammalian cells: Application to isolation of neutralizing chicken monoclonal anti-IL-12 antibodies. J Immunol Methods [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2012 Feb 17];327:40–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17719061
- Ho M, Pastan I. Display and selection of scFv antibodies on HEK-293T cells. Aitken R, editor. Methods Mol Biol [Internet]. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2009 [cited 2011 Jul 11];562:99–113. Available from: http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/978-1-60327-302-2
- Kirchdoerfer RN, Herrin BR, Han BW, Turnbough CL, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Variable lymphocyte receptor recognition of the immunodominant glycoprotein of Bacillus anthracis spores. Structure [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 12];20:479–86. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22405006
- Han BW, Herrin BR, Cooper MD, Wilson IA. Antigen recognition by variable lymphocyte receptors. Science [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2013 Apr 12];321:1834–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2581502&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- 15. Velikovsky CA, Deng L, Tasumi S, Iyer LM, Kerzic MC, Aravind L, et al. Structure of a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor in complex with a protein antigen. Nat Struct Mol Biol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2009 [cited 2013 Dec 3];16:725–30. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2722044&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Luo M, Velikovsky CA, Yang X, Siddiqui MA, Hong X, Barchi JJ, et al. Recognition of the Thomsen-Friedenreich pancarcinoma carbohydrate antigen by a lamprey variable lymphocyte receptor. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Dec 3];288:23597–606. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23782692
- Kiyotaki M, Cooper MD, Bertoli LF, Kearney JF, Kubagawa H. Monoclonal anti-Id antibodies react with varying proportions of human B lineage cells. J Immunol [Internet]. 1987 [cited 2013 Jan 3];138:4150–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3495581
- 18. Nakahara H, Herrin BR, Alder MN, Catera R, Yan X-J, Chiorazzi N, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia monitoring with a lamprey idiotope-specific antibody.

Cancer Immunol Res [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2014 Feb 18];1:223–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24432304

- Uhr JW, Pantel K. Controversies in clinical cancer dormancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2012 Oct 3];108:12396–400. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3145712&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Stamatopoulos K, Belessi C, Moreno C, Boudjograh M, Guida G, Smilevska T, et al. Over 20% of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia carry stereotyped receptors: Pathogenetic implications and clinical correlations. Blood [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2013 Mar 2];109:259–70. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16985177
- Messmer BT, Albesiano E, Efremov DG, Ghiotto F, Allen SL, Kolitz J, et al. Multiple distinct sets of stereotyped antigen receptors indicate a role for antigen in promoting chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Exp Med [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2013 Mar 1];200:519–25. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2211936&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract
- Agathangelidis A, Darzentas N, Hadzidimitriou A, Brochet X, Murray F, Yan X, et al. Stereotyped B-cell receptors in one-third of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a molecular classification with implications for targeted therapies. Blood [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 2];119:4467–75. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22415752
- 23. Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1993;90:720–4. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=45737&tool=pmcentre z&rendertype=abstract
- 24. Turtle CJ, Hudecek M, Jensen MC, Riddell SR. Engineered T cells for anti-cancer therapy. Curr Opin Immunol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012 [cited 2013 Mar 6];24:633–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22818942
- 25. Löfblom J, Frejd FY, Ståhl S. Non-immunoglobulin based protein scaffolds. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2011;22:843–8.
- 26. Banta S, Dooley K, Shur O. Replacing antibodies: engineering new binding proteins. Annu Rev Biomed Eng [Internet]. 2013;15:93–113. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23642248

- 27. Knapp MR, Jones PP, Black SJ, Vitetta ES, Slavin S, Strober S. Characterization of a spontaneous murine B cell leukemia (BCL1). I. Cell surface expression of IgM, IgD, Ia, and FcR. J Immunol [Internet]. 1979;123:992–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/313960
- Knapp MR, Severinson-Gronowicz E, Schröder J, Strober S. Characterization of a spontaneous murine B cell leukemia (BCL1). II. Tumor cell proliferation and IgM secretion after stimulation by LPS. J Immunol [Internet]. 1979;123:1000–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/381513
- Vitetta ES, Yuan D, Krolick K, Isakson P, Knapp M, Slavin S, et al. Characterization of the spontaneous murine B cell leukemia (BCL1). III. Evidence for monoclonality by using an anti-idiotype antibody. J Immunol [Internet]. 1979;122:1649–54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/109513
- 30. Fan J, De Lannoy IAM. Pharmacokinetics. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2014. page 93– 120.
- Beck A, Wurch T, Bailly C, Corvaia N. Strategies and challenges for the next generation of therapeutic antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;10:345–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2747
- 32. Tolcher AW, Sweeney CJ, Papadopoulos K, Patnaik A, Chiorean EG, Mita AC, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of CT-322 (BMS-844203), a targeted adnectin inhibitor of VEGFR-2 based on a domain of human fibronectin. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:363–71.
- 33. Mross K, Richly H, Fischer R, Scharr D, Büchert M, Stern A, et al. First-in-human phase I study of PRS-050 (Angiocal), an anticalin targeting and antagonizing VEGF-A, in patients with advanced solid tumors. PLoS One. 2013;8:1–11.
- 34. Campochiaro PA, Channa R, Berger BB, Heier JS, Brown DM, Fiedler U, et al. Treatment of diabetic macular edema with a designed ankyrin repeat protein that binds vascular endothelial growth factor: A phase I/II study. Am J Ophthalmol [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2013;155:697–704.e2. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2012.09.032
- 35. Souied EH, Devin F, Mauget-Faÿsse M, Kolář P, Wolf-Schnurrbusch U, Framme C, et al. Treatment of Exudative Age-Related Macular Degeneration with a Designed Ankyrin Repeat Protein that Binds Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor: a Phase I/II Study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2014;
- 36. Sörensen J, Sandberg D, Sandström M, Wennborg A, Feldwisch J, Tolmachev V, et al. First-in-human molecular imaging of HER2 expression in breast cancer

metastases using the 111In-ABY-025 affibody molecule. J Nucl Med [Internet]. 2014;55:730–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24665085

- 37. Shankar G, Arkin S, Cocea L, Devanarayan V, Kirshner S, Kromminga A, et al. Assessment and reporting of the clinical immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins and peptides-harmonized terminology and tactical recommendations. AAPS J [Internet]. 2014;16:658–73. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24764037
- Alder MN, Rogozin IB, Iyer LM, Glazko G V, Cooper MD, Pancer Z. Diversity and function of adaptive immune receptors in a jawless vertebrate. Science [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2013 Mar 7];310:1970–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16373579
- 39. Jahn EM, Schneider CK. How to systematically evaluate immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins regulatory considerations. N. Biotechnol. 2009. page 280–6.
- 40. Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1901 [Internet].
  1901 [cited 2015 Feb 10]. Available from: http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1901/